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Sent without prejudice and to save further costs. The recipients of this document are strongly urged to read it carefully and take 
actions in accordance with laws. If the case proceeds to court, Lot 158 reserves the right to present it to all parties, including all 
owners, tenants,  and investors in the complex who have vested interest in the case and where their hard-earned money goes, along 
with all other unredacted evidence, and seek judgements based on facts.   

Narrative 1 - Current Office of Legal Services Commissioner case CAS006791 and pending submission
in person for Crime Stoppers Event 648467: Solicitor Adrian Mueller: professional misconduct, 
involvement in fraud, falsified evidence and false representation in CTTT cases SCS 12/32675, SCS 
12/50460, and SCS 13/50737 (NCAT case SC 20/33352 will be submitted separately), false 
representation in District Court case 13/360456, refusal to co-operate with OLSC in three submissions 
(41368, 56561, CAS005901), persistent contempt of court through willful disobedience to, and 
disregard of, court orders and misconduct in the presence of courts and Tribunals (in period 2012 to 
2021, Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to comply with CTTT/NCAT orders for the Hearings six times), 
refusal to co-operate with Police Event E65804633 and NCAT in case SC 20/33352 by withholding 
evidence and coercing the Tribunal to ignore evidence of the Applicants without considering it, 
earnings through proceeds of crime, and serial litigator with intention to harass (including being silent 
witness of stalking, exposure to ridicule, discrimination on religious and nationality basis, being aware
of anonymous death threats against Lot 158 and not taking any action to prevent such actions, and 
more), waste court time, and incur expenses for personal benefits. Solicitor Adrian Mueller not only 
initiated an abuse of the court processes to gain personal advantage through proceeds of crime but 
caused harm to other parties (to harass and annoy, to cause delay and detriment).

Actions by Solicitor Adrian Mueller obstructed Police investigators, insurance investigators, and other 
government officials (Fair Trading NSW, CTTT/NCAT, OLSC) and perverted the course of justice, 
falsified evidence, provided statements knowing they were not factual, earned income through 
proceeds of crime, and more).

Solicitor Adrian Mueller was recipient of formal request “20220209-Re_OLSC case CAS005901 - 
Request for Solicitor Adrian Mueller to respond with evidence on 8Feb2022-1750.pdf”, as sent by Mr. 
LOT 158 on 8 February 2022. No reply was received for OLSC or Lot 158.

Narrative 1 - Substance of Conduct Matter for Solicitor Adrian Mueller

1.Breach of section 172 LPUL (NSW) - legal costs must be fair and reasonable,

2. Breach of section 178 LPUL (NSW) - non-compliance with disclosure obligations,

3. Breach of section 180 LPUL (NSW) - making costs agreements,

4. Breach of section 185 LPUL (NSW) - certain costs agreements are void ,

5. Misappropriation, caused deficiency in owners corporation SP52948 funds and insurance company’s funds,

6. Failure to comply with a requirement under section 371 LPUL (NSW) and failure to assist an investigator in the 
investigation of a complaint,

7. Breach of section 387 LPUL (NSW) - obstruction of investigator,

8. Breach of section 388 LPUL (NSW) – obligation of lawyers,

9. Breach of sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 12, and 14 of Legal Profession Uniform Law Australian Solicitors’ Conduct Rules 2015 
under the LPUL.



False statements are a very serious offence in their own right. Deliberate lying in a Statutory Declaration is punishable by up 
to five years in prison, according to the NSW Oaths Act. Former judge Marcus Einfeld served two years in prison for 
knowingly making a false statement under oath and for attempting to pervert the course of justice. The case stemmed from 
the improbable catalyst of a false statutory declaration over a $77.00 speeding fine. 

Solicitor Adrian Mueller is prepared to go take extreme steps to protect own interests, which include examples from 2017, 2018, 
2019, 2020, and 2021:

• Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-premeditated-plan-by-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-to-prevent-Applicant-Motions-
and-disallow-owners-to-vote-at-AGM-2017.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-prevented-Lot-158-Motions-and-disallowed-owners-to-vote-
AGM-2018.pdf”.

• In October 2019, Solicitor Adrian Mueller, secretly attempted to force Mrs. LOT 158 (in addition to Mr. LOT 158) to sign 
alleged Deed of Agreement under duress, by asking them to declare that strata managers, committee members, and building 
manager did nothing wrong and that they should retract all statements, which was, of course, rejected. The Deed was 
presented in person by Waratah Strata Management to Mr. LOT 158 in person at the general meeting, which meant that 
Solicitor’s engagement was not approved with owners corporation decision at any legally convened meeting or by valid 
members of the committee, and that Solicitor prepared the 11-page Deed before the general meeting.

• Secret handwritten notes of committee meeting by Waratah Strata Management held on 5 September 2019 (one and a half 
months before the general meeting on 17 October 2019) show what was approved at the meeting (including advanced 
preparation of Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s Deed of Agreement that Mr. LOT 158 was supposed to sign at general meeting): 

 

Written notes also confirmed that committee members and strata manager were not willing to pursue unpaid levies for gas 
heating.



• Different information was presented to owners in official minutes of the meeting dated 5 September 2019:

 

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-written-notes-for-EC-meeting-by-Waratah-Strata-Management-about-Solicitor-
Adrian-Mueller-Deed-preparation-for-AGM-2019-and-confirmation-committee-members-not-willing-to-audit-unpaid-gas-
levies.png”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-minutes-EC-meeting-5Sep2019-published-12Sep2019.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “Adrian-Mueller-LOT 158-Deed-of-Agreement-17Oct2019.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-used-Unreasonable-Communications-Special-By-Law-against-Lot-158-six-
times-without-disclosure-to-NCAT-SC-20-33352.pdf”.

• On 21 October 2020, Mr. LOT 158 sent two emails to Solicitor Adrian Mueller who again attempted to issue secret 
defamation threats BEFORE pending NCAT case (in this event it was SC 20/33352). Solicitor did not notify NCAT about 
this threat. In the first email, Mr. LOT 158 said, amongst the others:

After Waratah Strata Management and committee members rejected to attend FREE mediation at Fair Trading NSW in 
March 2020, refused to respond to numerous attempts to reason with them, NCAT case 20/33352 was opened. The submitted 
files include firm evidence of Solicitor Adrian Mueller's past actions.

Letter of demand was sent to number of members of the committee and Waratah Strata Management to refute or confirm 
allegations with evidence. 

You are requested to send your email/letter to O'Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors and confirm the following as well:

a) That you have been approved to represent SP52948 strata committee and Waratah Strata Management at legally 
convened general meeting before today.

b) That owners and Lot 158 have been provided with signed Standard Costs Agreement at any time since 5 September 2019, 
when you were asked to create so-called Deed before AGM 2019 and owners corporation approval.

We thank you for your co-operation and support for NCAT case with full disclosure.



Solicitor Adrian Mueller never responded.

Unredacted evidence in document “20201021-Re_Defamation Concerns Notice (JSM 34813)-1252.pdf”.

• In the second email on 21 October 2020, Mr. LOT 158 made the repeated request to Solicitor Adrian Mueller to respond to 
O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitor’s letter dated 24 April 2020:

YOU ARE REQUESTED to PROVIDE RESPONSE to all demands dated 24 April 2020, as per attachment.

The response with evidence must arrive by tomorrow before AGM 2020.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller never responded.

Unredacted evidence in document “20201021-IMMEDIATE RESPONSE REQUESTED for Lot 158 demands dated 
24Apr2020-1254.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “LOT 158Letter24April.pdf”.

The actions of Solicitor Adrian Mueller seriously affected Mrs. S.P.B. (Mrs. LOT 158) health and in spite of him having 
knowledge of her problems, he continued to act unprofessionally with deliberate intentions to cause harm and financial losses. 

For more than 10 years Solicitor Adrian Mueller, as witness of actions by strata managers and committee members of strata 
plan SP52948, and collaborator in those actions, conducted a concerted, continuous campaign to vilify and denigrate Mr. LOT
158 and his wife. Courts can be very harsh towards menacing campaigns without justification, as penalty in amount of $1.5m 
in case Adam and Charif Kazal vs Rodric David and his company Thunder Studios prove.

Due to Mrs. LOT 158’s multiple health conditions (including previous strokes), she is even excused from Jury duty.

• The crucial points in the Statement of Ethics and its acknowledgement of the lawyer’s role of upholding the rule of law and 
serving the community in the administration of justice vis-à-vis the solicitor’s duty to the court are that lawyers should:

•Act frankly and fairly in all dealings with the courts.

•Be trustworthy.

•Serve their clients’ interests competently.

•Communicate clearly with their clients.

•Keep the affairs of clients confidential, unless otherwise required by the law.

•Maintain and defend the rights and liberty of the individual.

•Avoid any conflict of interest.

• Crucially, in terms of the “balancing act” which must be observed in putting the lawyer’s duties into context, the Statement

of Ethics states:

“In fulfilling this role, lawyers are not obliged to serve the client’s interests alone, if to do so would conflict with the duty 
which lawyers owe to the Court and to serving the ends of justice.”

• These are referred to in Rules 21 and A34:

If at any time before judgement is delivered in any proceedings a practitioner's client admits to having given materially false 
evidence or to having tendered a false or misleading document in the proceedings the practitioner must:

•Advise the client that the Court should be informed of the false evidence and request the client's authority to inform the 
Court and correct the Court record and,

•If the client refuses to provide that authority, withdraw from the proceedings immediately and terminate the retainer.

A practitioner whose client informs the practitioner that the client intends to disobey a Court's order must:

•Advise the client against that course and warn of its dangers,

•Not advise the client how to carry out or conceal that course but

•Not inform the Court or the opponent of the client's intention unless the client has authorised the practitioner to do so 
beforehand or the practitioner believes on reasonable grounds that the client's conduct constitutes a threat to any persons 
safety.



• At common law, no privilege arises in respect of a communication made for a purpose that is contrary to the public interest; 
that is, where the communication is made in furtherance of an illegal or improper purpose, whether or not the legal adviser 
knows of that purpose.

For the purposes of the illegal or improper purpose principle, the relevant distinction is between a communication made for 
the purpose of being guided or helped in achieving an illegal or improper purpose, which is a non-privileged communication,
as compared with a communication made for the purpose of seeking advice in relation to past conduct, which may be 
privileged.

However, a communication in relation to past conduct will not be privileged if the communication is for the purpose of 
covering up a crime or fraud, or for the purpose of defeating or delaying recovery by the victims of a crime or fraud.

The illegal or improper purpose principle covers all forms of fraud and dishonesty, including fraudulent breach of trust, 
fraudulent conspiracy, trickery and ‘sham’ contrivances, as well as cases of fraud by third parties.



Narrative 1 - Brief of Claims against Solicitor Adrian Mueller

Some of the costs incurred by Solicitor Adrian Mueller for CTTT cases SCS 12/32675, SCS 12/50460,  SCS/50737, and District 
Court case 13/360456, without having legal rights to represent owners corporation SP52948, and in that process assisted in forgery of 
evidence of his retainers and other  documents:

• Four insurance claims paid by CHU Insurance and collected by Solicitor Adrian Mueller through owners corporation 
SP52948 (GST exclusive):

$367.64 on 31 August 2012

$12,714.65 on 7 December 2012

$1,320.00 on 26 April 2013

        $10,517.02 on 4 June 2013

The claims were for “legal defence of Lot 3” in CTTT case that did not exist in regards to this owner.

Four years later, in March 2017, CHU Insurance forced owners corporation SP52948 to repay $8,800.00:

 



• Solicitor Mr. Adrian Mueller was engaged without general meetings and without any Signed Costs Agreement 14 times in 
period March 2012 and September 2016, without disclosure of expenses in any financial statement given to owners 
corporation - Solicitor Mr. Adrian Mueller was paid by SP52948 in amount of $63,318.77 (GST included) for events related 
to CTTT cases SCS 12/32675, SCS 12/50460, and SCS 13/50737, and District Court case 13/360456:

Solicitor Adrian Mueller, when accounting his earnings from owners corporation SP52948 until February 2022, received well
above $100,000.00 through fraudulent representation of owners corporation SP52948.

• Due to fact that two insurers declined to quote in 2012 (one due to repetitive water-related problems which actually 
introduced $10,000.00 excess for each and every water-leak damage or exploratory work, and the other due to high legal 
risks), owners corporation SP52948 was forced to pay for insurance premiums to Gallagher Australia on 21 September 2012 
in amount of $84,414.77, which was 74.38% higher than in September 2011.

• Mrs. LOT 158, on behalf of Mr. LOT 158, paid penalty in amount of $26,500.00 based solely on Mr. Peter Bone's Statutory 
declaration which was fully prepared and organised by Solicitor Adrian Mueller.

• Mrs. LOT 158, on behalf of Mr. LOT 158, paid $2,737.90 to Chambers Russell Lawyers for unnecessary case in District 
Court case 13/360456 where, the Solicitor's defence was based on false Statutory Declaration by Mr. Peter Bone and false 
statements by Mr. Peter Bone in his Affidavit.

• Mrs. LOT 158, on behalf of Mr. LOT 158, spent $700.00 for Mr. LOT 158 being forced to deliver extra folders to Solicitor 
Adrian Mueller on 18 April 2013 (due to fact that strata manager lost first folder, which was not Mr. LOT 158’s 
responsibility or problem).

• Mrs. LOT 158, on behalf of Mr. LOT 158, spent $23,445.00 for alleged defamation cases and unnecessary legal advice for 
defending at NCAT (defamation cases never went to court or settled because they were based on baseless accusations) – the 
events were initiated by Solicitor Adrian Mueller in period from 21 October 2019 to 9 May 2021:

21 October 2019 $5,000.00

21 March 2020 $2,200.00

6 August 2020 $3,300.00

23 September 2020 $295.00

28 October 2020 $3,300.00

29 March 2021 $3,300.00

9 May 2021 $6,050.00

• Mrs. LOT 158, on behalf of Mr. LOT 158, paid close to $3,000.00 on the purchase of new colour laser printer, cartridges, 
folders, and paper for printing seven copies of files for six members of the committee and NCAT because committee 
members silently rejected the following plea to provide documents in electronic format, as sent to committee members on 25 
September 2020:
1. NCAT allows it in their Procedural Direction 1: 
Documents do not need to be served in one of the ways set out above if the receiving party (or their representative) agrees to 
accept service of the  documents by some other means. 
2. Saves unnecessary paperwork and waste of natural resources, 
3. Avoids unnecessary costs of printing, which we intend to charge owners corporation after we confirm that Lot 158 is legal
member of the committee, 

Cred. Code Creditor Name Doc. Ref. No. Doc. Date Doc. Total Chq. Date Mtd. Cnl. Chq. Date Presented
84446 J S MUELLER & 78428 5/09/2016 $1,100.00
84446 J S MUELLER & 69179 28/10/2014 $742.50
84446 J S MUELLER & 67976 29/07/2014 $484.00
84446 J S MUELLER & 65777 6/03/2014 $242.00
84446 J S MUELLER & 65461 14/02/2014 $20,624.75
84446 J S MUELLER & 65483 18/02/2014 $6,980.28
84446 J S MUELLER & 64289 8/11/2013 $484.00
84446 J S MUELLER & 61904 24/06/2013 $1,452.00
84446 J S MUELLER & 61223 10/05/2013 $11,568.72
84446 J S MUELLER & 60252 6/03/2013 $1,452.00
84446 J S MUELLER & 58762 15/11/2012 $13,986.12
84446 J S MUELLER & 57380 10/08/2012 $1,504.40
84446 J S MUELLER & 56130 28/05/2012 $198.00
84446 J S MUELLER & 55003 13/03/2012 $2,500.00

19/09/2016   EFT N  19/09/2016 
30/10/2014   EFT N  30/10/2014 
31/07/2014   EFT N  31/07/2014 
25/03/2014   EFT N  25/03/2014 
05/03/2014   EFT N  05/03/2014 
04/03/2014   EFT N  04/03/2014 
19/11/2013   EFT N  19/11/2013 
04/07/2013   EFT N  04/07/2013 
20/05/2013   EFT N  20/05/2013 
22/03/2013   EFT N  22/03/2013 
27/11/2012   EFT N  27/11/2012 
22/08/2012   EFT N  22/08/2012 
31/05/2012   EFT N  31/05/2012 
27/03/2012   EFT N  27/03/2012 



4. Some files are color photographs which would not look correct in black-and-white prints and NCAT insists of them being 
printed one-sided and in colour, 
5. Some files are in video format which cannot be printed. 

• Owners corporation SP52948 paid $851.56 secretly on courier expenses for sending handful of files by Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller to CTTT on 19 April 2013.

All underline statements in this document are available on secure website owned and managed by Mr. LOT 158 who is an IT forensics
security expert (access can be provided to all parties involved in investigations). Mr. LOT 158 ran painstaking investigations over 
eight years and collected close to 60,000 files. 

Nobody can or should ignore Mr. LOT 158’s efforts, for the sake of all law-abiding citizens:

https://www.vk2cot.id.au/NCAT-20-33352/

https://www.vk2cot.id.au/NCAT-20-33352/Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-illegal-representation-CTTT-SCS-12-32675/

https://www.vk2cot.id.au/NCAT-20-33352/Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-illegal-representation-CTTT-SCS-12-50460/

As part of NCAT case 20/33352 in 2020/2021, Solicitor Adrian Mueller, committee members, and strata managers had 
full access to website, which they declined to use and Solicitor Adrian Mueller coerced Tribunal member to ignore the 
evidence because the Respondent (strata manager and committee members) chose not to attend the Hearing on 11 
February 2021.

https://www.vk2cot.id.au/NCAT-20-33352/Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-illegal-representation-CTTT-SCS-12-50460/
https://www.vk2cot.id.au/NCAT-20-33352/Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-illegal-representation-CTTT-SCS-12-32675/
https://www.vk2cot.id.au/NCAT-20-33352/


Narrative 1 - Unredacted Abridged Evidence (full evidence is on secure website)

1) On 2 July 2012, Solicitor Adrian Mueller sent letter to BCS Strata Management, advising of his costs in amount between 
$6,600.00 and $12,100.00 for representing owners corporation SP52948 in Mr. LOT 158’s appeal at CTTT in case SCS 
12/32675, and also proposed to provide a costs agreement once owners corporation wanted to engage him.

BCS Strata Management processed the letter on 10 July 2012 (stamped date on the first page). This was a letter sent by post -
no email:

  

Unredacted evidence in document “Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-letter-to-BCS-Strata-Management-advising-on-his-cost-
estimates-and-suggesting-to-use-insurance-claims-for-legal-costs-2Jul2012.pdf”.



2) On 4 July 2012, owners corporation had no funds to pay $14,056.90, which was approved by strata manager Paul Banoob for
creditor code 69633, so BCS Strata Management secretly ordered injection of $50,000.00 from an MBL account.

Unredacted evidence in document “BCS-Strata-Management-hid-information-that-SP52948-had-no-readily-available-funds-
to-pay-bills-4Jul2012.htm”.



3) Alleged committee meeting in Lot 181 unit (Mr. Stan Pogorelsky) on 9 July 2012, who was unfinancial at the time due to 
unpaid gas heating levies since 1999, with alleged notice of the meeting without any agenda sent to any owner on 6 July 
2012, approved engagement of Solicitor Adrian Mueller without owners corporation knowledge: 



 

That meeting was later found out by CTTT to be completely illegal and to this day (February 2022) agenda and minutes of 
the meeting do not exist in strata files (online or elsewhere). CTTT was coerced by Solicitor Adrian Mueller to accept alleged
committee meeting on 26 April 2013 (which actually happened on 19 April 2013 - six days before its scheduled date) that 
ratified strata manager’s actions dated 25 July 2012:



The meeting had clear and unambiguous intention to present Solicitor’s engagement for approval at general meeting after 
CTTT Directions Hearing (which never occurred).

Unredacted evidence in document “GAS CHARGES 2012 & 2013_20170131132821.pdf” issued invoice for unpaid levies 
for gas heating for 2012 and 2013 to Mr. Stan Pogorelsky three years later on 15 July 2016, without charging prescribed fee 
of $220.00 per year (GST inclusive) and 10% simple interest per each year.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Lot-147-gas-charges-2012-and-2013-issued-15Jul2016.pdf” issued invoice for 
unpaid levies for gas heating for 2012 and 2013 to Mr. Moses Levitt three years later on 15 July 2016, without charging 
prescribed fee of $220.00 per year (GST inclusive) and 10% simple interest per each year.

The meeting was allegedly attended by six committee members (full committee consisted of nine members), of which two 
were unfinancial: Mr. Stan Pogorelsky and Mr. Moses Levitt, thus failing the quorum.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-minutes-EC-meeting-9Jul2012.docx”.

4) On 1 August 2012, strata manager secretly changed the insurance policy 9 for legal defence for the owners corporation 
SP52948, in spite of warnings of high risks by the insurance broker:

 



The email exchange also confirmed that owners corporation did not have any legal representation on the day because 
insurance company was asked for advice on which solicitors to use for SP52948 and they listed two: Bannermans and Le 
Page.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-CHU-and-Strata-Manager-high-risk-insurance-claim-for-legal-costs-
1Aug2012.pdf”.

5) On 13 August 2012, notice of committee meeting scheduled for 22 August 2012 was prepared by Mr. Paul Banoob. In it, 
there was no copy of the alleged meeting dated 9 July 2012 and only copy of committee meeting dated 13 June 2012 was 
attached, so not even members of the committee had information about meeting on 9 July 2012.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Notice-EC-meeting-13Aug2012-organised-by-BCS-Strata-Management-Paul-
Banoob-and-not-containing-minutes-of-EC-meeting-9Jul2012.pdf” – this was a special version of the notice, given only to 
committee members, whilst all other owners received abridged version without detailed agenda (document “SP52948-EC-
Meeting-Invitation-13Aug2012.pdf”).

As part of NCAT case SC 20/33352, committee members, Waratah Strata Management, and Solicitor Adrian Mueller had 
access to this evidence, and continued to mislead the Tribunal by providing false statements.

Additional evidence is in unredacted documents “20200722-REQUEST_ Waratah Strata Management website missing notice
and minutes of EC meeting dated 9Jul2012-973.pdf” and “20200723-Re_REQUEST_ Waratah Strata Management website 
missing notice and minutes of EC meeting dated 9Jul2012-974.pdf”.

6) BCS Strata Management made four claims for legal costs of Solicitor Adrian Mueller whilst illegally representing owners 
corporation SP52948: 

$367.64 on 31 August 2012
$12,714.65 on 7 December 2012
$1,320.00 on 26 April 2013
$10.517.02 on 4 June 2013



• Solicitor Adrian Mueller sent invoice on 10 August 2012:

  

   

 

Insurance paid the claim on 31 August 2012, with $1,000.00 excess:

 



• Solicitor Adrian Mueller sent invoice on 15 November 2012:

 

 

    

Insurance paid the claim on 7 December 2012:



• Solicitor Adrian Mueller sent invoice on 6 March 2013:

              

 

Insurance paid the claim on 26 April 2013:

 



• Solicitor Adrian Mueller sent invoice on 10 May 2013:

 

Insurance paid the claim on 4 June 2013:

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Lot-3-all-four-insurance-claims.pdf”.

The claims were for “legal defence of Lot 3” in CTTT case that did not exist in regards to this owner.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Mueller-invoice-10Aug2012-BCS4048297.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Mueller-invoice-15Nov2012-BCS4527447.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Mueller-invoice-6Mar2013-BCS5064461.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Mueller-invoice-10May2013-BCS5454894.pdf”.



7) On 8 August 2012, at Directions Hearing in case SCS 12/32675 which were attended by Solicitor Adrian Mueller without 
evidence of his signed Standard Costs Agreement or any proof of his retainer, the following orders were made:

Mr. LOT 158 complied and provided extensive evidence to Solicitor Adrian Mueller by required date – 15 August 2012.

8) On 6 September 2012, whilst being fully aware of obligation to provide Mr. LOT 158 with his responses by 12 September 
2012 as per Directions Hearing in case SCS 12/32675, Solicitor Adrian Mueller sent secret defamation threat, in spite of 
knowing that all statements and files by Mr. LOT 158 had already been sent to CTTT and himself (and were part of court 
proceedings) and also as notification to some owners in the complex (since notice of CTTT Directions Hearing was not 
provided to any owner by strata manager or committee members, as required by strata regulations):

Mr. LOT 158 provided sufficient evidence to CTTT for allegations listed by Solicitor Adrian Mueller, and the Solicitor had 
access to them since 15 August 2012 but failed to acknowledge it and instead used defamation threat as a deterrent.

Unredacted evidence in document “Solicitor-Mueller-Defamation-Threat-6Sep2012-arrived-10Sep2012.pdf”

9) Solicitor Adrian Mueller charged owners corporation for attempts to threaten Mr. LOT 158 with defamation case, in spite of 
it not being part of CTTT case. Solicitor invoice “SP52948-Mueller-invoice-15Nov2012-BCS4527447.pdf” has full details of
such costs which were also paid by insurance company.

Several days later, Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to comply with Directions Hearing orders in file SCS 12/32675 on 12 
September 2012, which was confirmed in CTTT’s reminder on 17 September 2012.

In CTTT case SCS 12/32675 Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to comply with Tribunal orders three times before the date of 
Hearing on 17 October 2012.



10)Solicitor Adrian Mueller confirmed to CTTT that Lot 3 was not part of proceedings on 26 October 2012 after providing false 
statement to CTTT at Hearing on 17 October 2012 that Lot 3 was overseas and coerced the Tribunal to strike out the orders 
against Lot 3:

Unredacted evidence in document "faxcoversheet-SCS-12-32675-False-Statement-for-Order-4-Hearing-19Oct2012.pdf". 

11)In period 2012 to 2021, Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to comply with CTTT/NCAT orders for the Hearings six times, 
incurring significant costs to Lot 158, owners corporation SP52948, and insurance industry, whilst not being authorised to 
represent owners corporation through any legally-compliant general meetings or signed Standard Costs Agreements. Specific
examples in CTTT cases SCS 12/32675, SCS 12/50460, and NCAT SC 20/33352:

• Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to comply with Directions Hearing orders in file SCS 12/32675 on 13 September 2012,

• CTTT sent reminder to Solicitor Adrian Mueller about non-compliance with Directions Hearing orders in file SCS 12/32675 
on 17 September 2012,

• CTTT changed Solicitor Directions Hearing orders for Solicitor Adrian Mueller in file SCS 12/32675 on 26 September 2012,

• CTTT sent another reminder to Solicitor Adrian Mueller about non-compliance with Directions Hearing orders in file SCS 
12/32675 on 9 October 2012,

• On 7 May 2013 CTTT sent an order for their non-compliance in case SCS 12/50460 to Solicitor Adrian Mueller and BCS 
Strata Management.

• Mr. LOT 158 sent complaint to NCAT in case SC 20/33252 on 23 November 2020, stating that Solicitor Adrian Mueller 
failed to comply with Directions Hearing orders made on 25 September 2020 (“The respondents shall provide to the 
applicant and the Tribunal, either in person or by post, and by email, a copy of all documents (see note below), on which the 
respondent seeks to rely at the hearing by 20 November 2020”),

• On 1 February 2021, Mr. LOT 158 sent another complaint to NCAT in case SC 20/33352, stating that Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller again failed to comply with Tribunal orders.



12) Enclosed herewith are FOUR versions of Adrian Mueller's Standard Costs Agreement in CTTT case SCS 12/32675 with 
dates:

• Unredacted evidence in document "Adrian-Mueller-Standard-Costs-Agreement-without-signature-by-strata-manager-in-
insurance-claim-for-his-costs-on-10Aug2012.pdf" clearly shows that QBE Insurance received claim for legal costs of 
Solicitor Adrian Mueller dated 10 August 2012 (insurance claim signed by BCS Strata Manager Ron Sinclair on 28 August 
2012 and attached Solicitor’s Standard Costs Agreement without signature and without any email/letter sent or received by 
Solicitor Adrian Mueller before date of 10 August 2012). In that claim, Solicitor's Standard Costs Agreement DID NOT 
HAVE ANY SIGNATURE ON BEHALF OF OWNERS CORPORATION. 

• Unredacted evidence in document "Adrian-Mueller-Standard-Costs-Agreement-without-signature-by-strata-manager-
provided-to-CTTT-on-29Jan2013.pdf" was a Standard Costs Agreement that Solicitor Adrian Mueller himself sent to CTTT 
in case SCS 12/32675 on 29 January 2013, which DID NOT HAVE ANY SIGNATURE ON BEHALF OF OWNERS 
CORPORATION. 



• Unredacted evidence in document "Adrian-Mueller-Standard-Costs-Agreement-signed-by-strata-manager-on-17Jul2012-and-
kept-secret-from-CTTT.pdf" was created on Tuesday 16 April 2013 at 09:08 hours and HAD SIGNATURE ON BEHALF OF
OWNERS CORPORATION by Mr. Paul Banoob but that document was hidden from CTTT, District Court, and Police. It 
was created one day after CTTT made order for Solicitor Adrian Mueller to produce evidence that he was legally approved to
represent owners corporation for CTTT case SCS 12/32675 in period August to October 2012. 

• Unredacted evidence in document "Adrian-Mueller-Standard-Costs-Agreement-signed-by-strata-manager-on-25Jul2012-and-
provided-to-CTTT-nine-months-later-on-19Apr2013.pdf" was submitted by Solicitor Adrian Mueller to CTTT on 19 April 
2013 and HAD SIGNATURE ON BEHALF OF OWNERS CORPORATION by Mr. Garry Web allegedly dated 25 July 
2012. 



13) On 19 September 2012, Solicitor Adrian Mueller, in secret email to two strata managers and Chairperson of owners 
corporation SP52948 confirming that he needed to prepare full evidence for his defence in CTTT case SCS 12/32675 and 
asked who would sign Statutory Declaration to give evidence on behalf of owners corporation. Extracts from the email:

 

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Adrian-Mueller-asking-BCS-Strata-Management-who-would-sign-Statutory-
Declaration-for-CTTT-case-SCS-12-32675-19Sep2012.png”.

14) Solicitor Adrian Mueller was actively involved in preventing owners to vote against his "rights" to represent owners 
corporation, protecting interests of few selected owners and strata managers, by ensuring that free mediations were not 
possible.

Mr. LOT 158 submitted Motions for Annual General Meeting 2012 on 28 and 29 September which included proposal to 
avoid legal costs and mediate free of costs:

• SP52948-Motion-Training-for-Executive-Committee-Members-and-Declaration-of-Conflict-of-Interest

• SP52948-Motion-Terminate-Townhouse-Rebates

• SP52948-Motion-Rescind-By-Law-8

• SP52948-Motion-Rescind-AGM2005-Motion-8

• SP52948-Motion-Proposal-in-Relation-to-Common-Property-and-EGMs

• SP52948-Motion-Mandate-Water-Saving-Program

• SP52948-Motion-Introduction-of-Subcommittees

• SP52948-Motion-Improvements-for-Financial-Reporting-and-Auditing

• SP52948-Motion-Discuss-By-Law-10

• SP52948-Motion-Discuss-By-Law-4

• SP52948-Motion-Analysis-of-Optus-Proposal-2010-and-Past-Errors

• SP52948-Motion-Improved-Dispute-Resolution-Process-AGM

In spite of delivering Motions ahead of time (deadline was 2 October 2012 at 09:00 hours, and the Motions were sent on 29 
September 2012 at 21:22 hours), strata manager Peter Bone excluded almost all of them with excuse which he could not 
justify when questioned about it. Solicitor Adrian Mueller was secretly engaged to review Mr. LOT 158's Motions (for which
he charged owners corporation in his fees and the owners corporation claimed it from the insurance company). 



Solicitor Adrian Mueller not only prevented Mr. LOT 158’s Motions to engage in free mediation but also charged owners 
corporation SP52948 for such services.

Copy of Mr. LOT 158’ Motion to avoid legal costs for all parties:

 

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Mueller-invoice-15Nov2012-BCS4527447.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-AGM-2012-paperwork.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “20120929-UPDATED_ SP 52948 - Annual General Meeting Motions by LOT 158-
3127.pdf”

15) Strata manager and committee members were warned by Mr. LOT 158 about risks and consequences of lying to CTTT in 
email dated 3 October 2012, two weeks before the Hearing. The email was ignored.

Unredacted evidence in document “2012-Lot-158-warning-to-strata-manager-and-EC-member-about-consequences-of-false-
statements-to-CATT-3Oct2012.pdf”.

16) Annual General Meeting of owners corporation SP52948 on 17 October 2012 (same day of the CTTT Hearing) did not 
present any Motion for approving engagement of Solicitor Adrian Mueller.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-AGM-2012-paperwork.pdf”.



17) Solicitor Adrian Mueller did not present any evidence at CTTT Hearing on 17 October 2012 and even coerced the Tribunal to
strike out orders against Lot 3 due to their absence at the Hearing.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller confirmed it to CTTT on 26 October 2012 after providing false statement to CTTT at Hearing that 
Lot 3 was overseas and coerced the Tribunal to strike out the orders. 

Mr. LOT 158 refuted Solicitor’s statement to CTTT about Lot 3 being overseas and not able to attend the Hearing. Solicitor 
Adrian Mueller never responded or notified the CTTT about his false statements.

Unredacted evidence in document "faxcoversheet-SCS-12-32675-False-Statement-for-Order-4-Hearing-19Oct2012.pdf". 

Unredacted evidence that Lot 3 was present at Annual General Meeting on 17 October 2012 is in document “SP52948-
AGM-2012-paperwork.pdf”.



18) As per CTTT orders on 17 October 2012, Solicitor Adrian Mueller signed Agreement which guaranteed delivery of financial 
records to Mr. LOT 158.

 

That promise was not delivered in full and evidence of signed Standard Costs Agreement, emails between the Solicitor and 
owners corporation, and proofs of payments to Solicitor Adrian Mueller were withheld, preventing Mr. LOT 158 and CTTT 
to have access to such files.



Unredacted evidence in document “CTTT-Solicitor-agreement-about-access-to-files-17Oct2012-received-on-22102012”.

19) On 18 October 2012, Mr. LOT 158 sent email to Solicitor Adrian Mueller with concerns about his actions at Hearing on 17 
October 2012, including refutation of Solicitor’s statement to CTTT about Lot 3 being overseas and not able to attend the 
Hearing. 

Solicitor Adrian Mueller never responded or notified the CTTT about his false statements.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-LOT 158-email-to-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-18Oct2012.html”.

20) On 17 and 18 October 2012, Mr. LOT 158 sent follow-up requests to BCS Strata Management about false statements by 
Solicitor Adrian Mueller and lack of files for CTTT. No reply was received.

Unredacted evidence in document “ SP52948-emails-to-MA-After-Hearing-and-AGM-2012-17Oct2012.pdf”.

21) Mr. LOT 158 carried document search in office of BCS Strata Management on 12 November 2012 and discovered many 
strata files missing, including signed copy of Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s Standard Costs Agreement.

Oral complaints, followed by email to Mr. Peter Bone and Mr. Paul Banoob, about missing files were delivered to BCS 
Strata Management, who failed to comply with SSMA 1996 regulations.

22) In spite of two insurance claims for Solicitor’s legal costs paid to owners corporation SP52948 in amount of $13,082.29 
without disclosure to owners, Solicitor Adrian Mueller secretly initiated legal cost recovery at CTTT without owners 
corporation knowledge or approval at any meeting on 10 December 2012.

Unredacted evidence in document “Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-secretly-initiated-legal-cost-recovery-without-owners-
corporation-knowledge-or-approval-in-spite-of-already-paid-two-insurance-claims-10Dec2012.pdf”.

23) As soon as Mr. LOT 158 saw that Solicitor Adrian Mueller provided his Standard Costs Agreement without signature to 
CTTT on 29 January 2013, he initiated attempts to get evidence of who and how approved legal engagement of the Solicitor. 
Mr. LOT 158 was ignored by BCS Strata Management, Solicitor Adrian Mueller, and committee members, in spite of 
irrefutable facts that two of the committee members were illegal (Mr. Stan Pogorelsky and Mr. Moses Levitt) due to unpaid 
gas heating levies since 1999 and 2001 respectively, whilst Mr. LOT 158 was legally valid member of the committee, and 
that Mr. LOT 158 carried full 12-month proxy authorisations to represent three other owners in the complex.



24) Solicitor Adrian Mueller was fully aware that committee members also wanted to prevent access to strata files as he had copy
of this email dated 18 February 2013:

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Executive-Committee-instructions-to-BCS-Strata-Management-Peter-Bone-
about-CTTT-evidence-not-allowed-to-be-provided-perhaps-even-after-legal-case-closed-18Feb2013.png”.



25) After realising that solicitor Adrian Mueller had no signature on his Standard Costs Agreement which he sent to Mr. LOT 
158 and CTTT on 29 January 2013, Mr. LOT 158 embarked on attempts to obtain evidence of legally approved engagement 
of the Solicitor.

Mr. LOT 158’s email was sent on 4 February 2013, with Subject line “OFFICIAL REQUEST TO INSPECT RECORDS: 
SP52948 correspondence by EC members and Solicitor from January 2012 to February 2013”. Unredacted evidence in 
document “20130204-OFFICIAL REQUEST TO INSPECT RECORDS_ SP52948 correspondence by EC members and 
Solicitor from January 2012 to February 2013-1124.pdf”.

The response from the strata manager was swift, as per advice by Solicitor Adrian Mueller himself. In email response on the 
same day - 4 February 2013, strata manager Peter Bone refused access to strata files:



26) Unredacted evidence shows that Solicitor Adrian Mueller knew of this court case when he prevented access to his 
correspondence:

Solicitor also fully confirmed on 30 August 2013 that emails form part of the owners corporation records and have to 
be disclosed under Section 108 of SSMA 1996:



27) On 18 February 2013, Chairperson of owners corporation SP52948 sent email to BCS Strata Management and another 
committee member (Mr. John Ward), suggesting to hide information from owners and not allow anyone to access files in 
CTTT case SCS 12/32675, as per alleged advice from Solicitor Adrian Mueller.

28) On 24 February 2013, Mr. LOT 158 initiated process of issuing summonses to several committee members and strata 
manager to provide CTTT and him certain strata records, including evidence of legal engagement of Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller. Summonses were issued for:

Mr. Peter Bone

Mr. Bruce Copland (Chairperson of owners corporation SP5294)

Mr. John Ward

Mrs. Maureen McDonald

On 24 February 2013 at 19:45 hours, Mr. LOT 158 sent email to strata manager Peter Bone with the subject line 
"ADVANCED NOTICE: Peter Bone will be issued with CTTT summons to produce documents on 25 February 2013".

Mr. LOT 158 submitted summonses on 25 February 2013 to CTTT, with updated version on 27 February 2013. 

29) Day after notice of issue of summonses to strata manager Peter Bone, as reported by Mr. LOT 158, there was an anonymous 
phone call to Mr. LOT 158 on 26 February 2013 (male voice) with clear instruction to stop CTTT cases or risk own life, with
suggestion to disappear from complex. 

Similar anonymous threat in letterbox notice "urging" Mr. LOT 158 to disappear from complex was reported to Police (and 
ignored by them) in Event E45617744 on 6 October 2011.

30) Evidence that Solicitor Adrian Mueller knew about summonses for strata manager Peter Bone and was actively involved on 
26 February 2013 is available in Solicitor’s invoice dated 6 March 2013.

Unredacted evidence of updated requests dated 27 February 2013 in document “Peter-Bone-produce-documents-summons-
short-v2-27Feb2013.docx”.

Neither recipient of summonses replied, nor provided CTTT and Mr. LOT 158 with any of requested files. 

Solicitor Adrian Mueller was directly involved in preventing access to files for CTTT and Mr. LOT 158, as unredacted 
invoice “SP52948-Mueller-invoice-6Mar2013-BCS5064461.pdf” can prove it:

• SP52948-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-secret-involvement-in-reviewing-AGM-Motions-without-owners-corporation-approval-
extract-from-invoice-58762-dated-15Nov2012

• SP52948-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-secret-involvement-in-preventing-access-to-strata-documents-without-owner-
corporation-approval-extract-from-invoice-60252-dated-6Mar2013

• SP52948-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-secret-involvement-in-preventing-issue-of-summonses-without-owner-corporation-
approval-extract-from-invoice-60252-dated-6Mar2013



31) In paper committee meeting on 28 March 2013 (without any owner attending or having right to vote), decision was made not
to approve Solicitor Adrian Mueller to attend CTTT mediation on 15 April 2013 (which was next date of the Hearing):

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Minutes-paper-EC_meeting-28Mar2013.pdf”.

32) On 15 April 2013, Solicitor Adrian Mueller appeared in CTTT Hearing and appeared “shocked” by that decision. After 
asking to exit the Hearing to contact strata manager and the committee, Solicitor Adrian Mueller spent more than 10 minutes 
on the phone outside the courtroom on the phone. Upon his return to the courtroom, he then argued the following to the 
Tribunal (transcribed from the third CD-ROM at around 12th minute of the audio recording at that Hearing - all audio 
recordings in case SCS 12/32675 are in our possession):

“What I wish to do is... continue with the Hearing today on proviso that I am able to tender some evidence on this issue. 
Evidence which I’ve only discovered… having perused my file in the last five minutes. Material… There’s two documents: 
first is a letter from me to the owners corporation dated the 2nd of July 2012 in which I did an estimate of my costs to act in 
owners corporation’s appeal. Second document is email from the Strata Manager to me on the 6th of August 2012 returning 
the signed copy of my costs agreement… and the costs agreement… signed by the strata manager on behalf of the owners 
corporation…. And… I apply…to leave.. tender of these documents today on the basis that I’ve only been informed of the 
challenge…”

Solicitor Adrian Mueller coerced Tribunal member that meeting on 28 March 2013 mistook mediation at Fair Trading NSW 
with CTTT case, although it was clear that three parts of decision were crystal clear:

• Date of Hearing (15 April 2013)

• Venue (CTTT).

• Mr. LOT 158’s offer for free Mediation in Fair Trading NSW case SM12/1537 (precursor to CTTT case SCS 12/50460) was 
rejected for second time, as orchestrated by Solicitor Adrian Mueller, on 27 March 2013.  Unredacted evidence in document 
“CTTT-SCS-12-50460-DFT-mediation-failed-second-time-27Mar2013.pdf”.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller did not have any legal rights to represent owners corporation in SCS 12/50460, as later shown by 
evidence, and also through secret plan by strata manager Peter Bone to ask owners to approve his Standard Costs Agreement 
on 8 May 2013 – unredacted evidence in document “ SP52948-Strata-Manager-Peter-Bone-proposing-new-Solicitor-
contract-to-owners-8May2013.pdf”. 



Solicitor Adrian Mueller secretly submitted his proposal for Standard Costs Agreement in CTTT case on 6 May 2013, which 
was never approved.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-CTTT-12-50460-Solicitor-offer-for-costs-agreement-6May2013.pdf”.

Tribunal accepted this weak excuse by Adrian Mueller but ordered the Solicitor to prove his retainer by 19 April 2013.

33) Unredacted evidence in document "SP52948-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-Giving-Secret-Advice-to-Bruce-Copland-and-BCS-
Strata-Managament-Provide-Signed-Contract-Under-Pressure-After-CTTT-Hearing-15Apr2013.png" is a secret email from 
Solicitor Adrian Mueller asking for urgent committee meeting and confirmation that his contract was signed on 25 July 2012:

Solicitor also belatedly asked for evidence of meetings from 2012 and urged strata manager and the committee to organise 
paper committee meeting for 19 April 2013 to “approve”  Motions which Solicitor Adrian Mueller prepared, in spite of 
knowing that such meeting could not satisfy strata laws for required time to send notices to owners.

Two questions are obvious:

1. If Solicitor had copy of his signed Standard Costs Agreement, why he needed a non-compliant committee meeting to 
urgently approve it? 

2. If Solicitor  had a copy of his signed Standard Costs Agreement, why he needed copies of previous committee meetings 
which he had relied on during previous Hearings (but obviously had no evidence to reply on them)? 

34) At Hearing on 15 April 2013, Solicitor Adrian Mueller coerced Tribunal to force Mr. LOT 158 to prepare another set of 
folders for him because strata manager lost submissions sent by Mr. LOT 158 in February 2013.

This extra cost to Mrs. LOT 158 (who covered costs for Mr. LOT 158) amounted to  $700.00 and Mr. LOT 158 forced 
Solicitor Adrian Mueller to sign the document about folder delivery on 18 April 2013.



Unredacted evidence in document “Adrian-Mueller-signed-LOT 158-document-confirming-delivery-of-documents-which-
BCS-Strata-Management-lost-and-requirements-to-provide-evidence-of-proper-engagement-of-Solicitor-legal-services-
18Apr2013.pdf”.

35) In panic, committee exchanged secret email on 16 April 2013, planning the meeting for 26 April 2013:

 

  

 
Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-panic-request-to-approve-urgent-paper-meeting-16Apr2013.pdf”.

36) Realising that the meeting had to deliver approval for Solicitor by 19 April 2013, committee ran time-warped meeting 
scheduled for 26 April 2013 one week earlier on 19 April 2013, and Solicitor Adrian Mueller tried to use it as valid defence 
of his retainer.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-secret-agenda-and-paper-EC-meeting-19Apr2013.pdf”.

37) Solicitor Adrian Mueller made claim to CTTT that he had received email with signed Standard Costs Agreement on 25 July 
2012 by Mr. Gary Webb and that it was sent by strata manager Mr. Gary Webb. 

Solicitor Adrian Mueller made the following statement to CTTT on 19 April 2013 – unredacted evidence in document 
"Letter-to-TribunalCommission-by-courier-19Apr2013.pdf".

On 25 July 2012 the then strata manager of the owners corporation, Gary Webb, signed the lawyer’s costs agreement on 
behalf of the owners corporation and the signed costs agreement was emailed to the lawyer by the strata manager on that 
day.

It clearly suggested that the Standard Costs Agreement was signed by Mr. Gary Webb (owners corporation SP52948 strata 
manager) and sent by him.





38) In Statutory Declaration to CTTT (fully and solely prepared by Solicitor Adrian Mueller - evidence is in his invoice he 
charged SP52948 for), in unredacted document "Peter-Bone -SD-declaration-19Apr2013.pdf", it said:

On 25 July 2012 I emailed to Adrian Mueller a copy of the Standard Costs Agreement signed by Gary Webb.



39) None of eight emails listed in Mr. Bone’s Statutory Declaration have ever been found in any document search or provided by
Solicitor Adrian Mueller.

In addition, Solicitor Adrian Mueller is very pedantic to charge for every email he receives or sends, and the alleged letters 
/emails on 5, 6 , 16, and 25 July 2012 are not listed in his invoice dated 10 August 2012:

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Mueller-invoice-10Aug2012-BCS4048297.pdf”.

40) Strata manager Peter Bone was not strata manager for SP52948 until committee meeting on 22 August 2012 (unredacted 
evidence in document "SP52948-EC-Minutes-22Aug2012.pdf").

Layman can find this to satisfy "on the balance of probabilities" and "beyond reasonable doubt" legal requirements for 
prosecution (statements were plainly and deliberately false and contradict each other).

41) In final Hearing in case SCS 12/32675 on 10 May 2013, apart from Solicitor Adrian Mueller who continued to claim he was 
legal to represent owners corporation, three members of Pica Group and BCS Strata Management attended (Mr. Peter Bone, 
Mr. Paul Banoob, and an unknown third person who is suspected to be Mr. Greg Freeman), without assisting Tribunal 
member and yet charging owners corporation for costs (unredacted evidence in document "BCS5532260-BCS-Strata-
Management-charging-for-attending-CTTT-Hearing-SCS-12-32675-10May2013.png"). 

They did not offer assistance to the Tribunal that the Statutory Declaration by their staff was falsified.

42) On 10 May 2013 Mr. LOT 158 issued request to Solicitor Adrian Mueller to return private property and reimburse owners 
corporation SP52948. 

In his dismissive reply on 14 May 2013, Solicitor Adrian Mueller provided further false statements that CTTT 
provided him with copies of files, which was untrue, because all files were provided in folders by Mr. LOT 158, and some by
strata manager. CTTT never provides files unless service fees paid, and the party is considered to be part of proceedings, 
which in this case would mean CTTT assumed Solicitor Adrian Mueller was legal representative of owners corporation 
SP52948. In his email, Solicitor Adrian Mueller stated:

I did not reach any agreement with you at the CTTT last Friday.



On that day you told me that I had received some documents concerning your latest CTTT application and you asked 
me to return those documents. I told you to put your request to me in writing which you have now done.

I received documents on File SCS 12/50460 from the CTTT, not you. These documents are not private. I am not holding these
documents illegally or without authority. I am presently under no obligation to return these documents to you and I therefore 
do not propose to do so. If the position changes I will advise you accordingly.

I disagree with the other assertions you make in your email.

Finally, you are not my client. I am presently under no obligation to agree to your requests (insofar as they relate to you) and
I therefore do not propose to do so.

When Solicitor refused to comply Mr. LOT 158 sent an updated request – Unredacted evidence in document “20130514-
Re_OFFICIAL REQUEST on 10 May 2013_ Immediate return of private property and reimbursement of Invoice on 6 March
2013-2978”.

And another request on 1 June 2013 – Unredacted evidence in document “20130601-Re_OFFICIAL REQUEST on 10 May 
2013_ Immediate return of private property and reimbursement of Invoice on 6 March 2013-3028.pdf”.

Throughout May 2013, once owners found out about these legal costs and events, many submitted their requests not to 
engage Solicitor for any events. Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Lots-against-legal-costs-ignored-by-EC-
May2013.pdf”.

43) In CTTT case SCS 12/50460, Solicitor Adrian Mueller claimed to strata manager that he had no knowledge of it on 6 May 
2013, in spite of being fully involved in through Fair Trading NSW and CTTT already (and charging owners corporation for 
such work, who further claimed his expenses through insurance).

Mr. LOT 158 personally notified Solicitor Adrian Mueller and strata manager Peter Bone about CTTT case SCS 12/50450 
and 12/50460 in email with Subject “FACSIMILES SENT TO CTTT: SCS 12/32675 12/50450 and 12/50460 on 19 October 
2012”. The CTTT case was related to misconduct of general meeting in October 2012.

Unredacted evidence in document “Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-false-statement-about-knowledge-of-CTTT-case-12-50460-
6May2013.png”.

44) Solicitor Adrian Mueller secretly submitted his proposal for Standard Costs Agreement in CTTT case on 6 May 2013, which 
was never approved.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-CTTT-12-50460-Solicitor-offer-for-costs-agreement-6May2013.pdf”.

45) On 26 December 2013, Mr. LOT 158 sent email to six members of the committee and two strata managers (Mr. Peter Bone 
and Mr. Paul Banoob) which stated:

For the record on strata files.

Owners are not told much about what is currently happening, which is in non-compliance with the SSMA 1996 (lack of 
detailed agenda for meetings and not serving District Court and CTTT applications and notices on each owner 
immediately):

a) District Court in file 13/360456 hearing is scheduled for 6 February 2013;

b) CTTT Hearing in file SCS 13/50737 is scheduled for 26 February 2013.

Three major actions on my side, apart from submission of evidence in both cases (that shows, among the other things, that 
last three general meetings are void and invalid):

a) I found definite evidence that Strata Manager Mr. Peter Bone provided false statements in his sworn Statutory 
Declaration in April 2013.  do not need to emphasize the importance of it.

I will seek any owner or member of the EC who wants to take stand and defend Strata Manager's actions.

b) Request to dismiss engagement of Solicitor Mr. Adrian Mueller due to reasonable apprehension of bias and constructive 
contempt of court (failed to follow Tribunal orders and directions four times just in file SCS 
12/32675), and other actions.

c) The second EGM scheduled for 20 December 2013 asks to approve Strata Manager's decision to engage Solicitor Mr. 
Adrian Mueller in additional mount of $16.500.00 (last two general meetings now seemingly approved legal expenses in 
amount above $31,000.00) without any consultation of the EC or owners corporation. Strata Manager



acted alone and now seeks retrospective "ratification". To make ratification valid, detailed agenda is required to satisfy "test 
of reasonable".

I attempted to mediate too many times. That was declined but it does not mean the problems should be ignored and past 
actions forgotten. They came at too high losses to owners corporation.

As always, I am open to fair discussions and suggestions.

Reply was never received.

Unredacted evidence in document “20131216-SUMMARY_ Hearings at District Court and CTTT scheduled - status on 16 
Dec 2013-229.pdf1”.

46) In BCS Strata Management Affidavit to District Court case 2013/360456 in February 2014, similar false statements were 
made, in spite of knowledge that Mr. LOT 158 was denied full access to strata files multiple times during 2012 and 2013 (in 
none of the document searches in office of BCS Strata Management in Epping signed version of Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s 
Standard Costs Agreement was found):

7 March 2013, paid $33.00

11 March 2013, paid $172.80

June 2013, BCS Strata Management ignored request for access to strata files

11 September Sep2013, paid $45.00

15 October 2013, paid $45.00

18 October 2013, paid $32.00

Solicitor Adrian Mueller knew of these facts but failed to disclose them at District Court. The outcome of Solicitor’s actions 
was “penalty” against Mr. LOT 158 in amount of $26,500.00 plus legal costs.

Unredacted evidence in document “Affidavit-by-BCS-Strata-Management-to-District-Court-31Jan2014.pdf”.

47) Unredacted evidence in document "SP52948-Chairperson-confirming-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-not-engaged-for-CTTT-12-
50460-2Sep2013.png" dated 2 September 2013 shows secret email confirming that Solicitor Adrian Mueller was NOT 
ENGAGED in CTTT case SCS 12/50460, in spite of Solicitor making costs and falsely claiming to Fair Trading NSW and 
CTTT that he was.

48) Document "CTTT-SCS-12-50460-DFT-mediation-Solicitor-involvement-6Mar2013.pdf" shows unredacted evidence that 
Solicitor Adrian Mueller made claim to Fair Trading NSW that he was legally representing SP52948 in precursor to SCS 
12/50460 (mediation attempt) on 7 March 2013. 

49) Document "SP52948-CTTT-SCS-12-50460-Non-compliance-order-for-Secretary-and-Solicitor-7May2013.pdf" contains 
unredacted evidence that CTTT was coerced into believing that Solicitor Adrian Mueller was acting on behalf of SP52948.

50) Solicitor Adrian Mueller was aware of SCS 12/50460 as early as 19 October 2012 (evidence is in our possession).

51) In spite of knowing that he was not legal to represent owners corporation SP52948 in CTTT cases SCS 12/32675 and SCS 
12/50460, Solicitor Adrian Mueller continued to act without legally-valid approval in CTTT case SCS 13/50737 and  District
Court case 13/360456, incurring costs above $30,000.00.



52) On 22 and 23 August 2017, through two emails, Solicitor Adrian Mueller secretly embarked on providing “recipe” how to 
exclude Mr. LOT 158’s Motions from general meeting, effectively preventing 218 owners from getting information before 
making informed decisions.

 

 

The second email on 23 August 2017 prepared a template for Waratah Strata Management how to exclude Lot 158 Motions, 
but not send the letter until very close to the date of the general meeting:

 



Waratah Strata Management complied with Solicitor’s suggestion and sent email to Mr. LOT 158 on 10 October 2017, which
looked like this:

               

  

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-secret-advice-on-23Aug2017-to-exclude-Lot-158-
Motions-for-general-meeting.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-secret-advice-on-23Aug2017-to-exclude-Lot-158-
Motions-for-general-meeting-and-introduce-Unreasonable-Communications-Special-By-Law.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “ SP52948-Waratah-Strata-Management-followed-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-advice-on-
23Aug2017-to-exclude-Lot-158-Motions-without-grounds-for-AGM2017-sent-on-10Oct2017.pdf”.



53) In July 2017, Mr. LOT 158 opened Police Event with evidence of fraud, false statements, and other issues. The event number 
was E65804633. One of the listed parties-of-interest was Solicitor Adrian Mueller.

After lot of delays, the Police approached Solicitor for access to files that were part of Statutory Declaration he had prepared 
for strata manager Peter Bone on 19 April 2013. Solicitor did not provide any files but secretly charged $350.00 to owners 
corporation SP52948 on 28 May 2018:

 

On 22 August 2018, the Police confirmed that the Solicitor “could not find the requested files”.

 

54) To prevent Lot 158 from submitting Motions for general meetings and communicating with other owners, Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller provided advice on new Special By-Law “Unreasonable Communications” and secretly charged $5,200.00 
(exclusive GST) in December 2017 (his Standard Costs Agreement was never given to any owner).

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-5200-dollars-exclusive-of-GST-paid-to-Adrian-Mueller-for-services-
11Dec2017.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-used-Unreasonable-Communications-Special-By-Law-against-Lot-158-six-
times-without-disclosure-to-NCAT-SC-20-33352.pdf”.

55) On 18 June 2019, Mr. LOT 158 sent email to Waratah Strata Management. Subject line of the email was:

“WITHOUT PREJUDICE: Request to stop wasting strata funds on legal expenses that cannot succeed – 18Jun2019”

In it, Mr. LOT 158 said:



To be shared with all owners in the complex immediately. Any attempt to avoid doing it as a risk for the strata agency. 
Waratah Strata Management and the Executive Committee are politely but firmly advised not to proceed with legal advice at 
owners corporation expense, firstly because it does not benefit owners in general but only some members of the Executive 
Committee, strata managers, and the Solicitors themselves, and secondly because SP52948 is already under dire financial 
stress (after elevators upgrades are completed which start in mid-July 2019, then two and a half roof membranes which are 
overdue, Block D hot water system upgrade, replacement of many obsolete smoke alarms, and so on). The owners do not 
realise it yet but they will soon. 

Instead of wasting strata funds, simply work on resolving ongoing issues and enforcing proper management of the complex.

a) The attempt to engage Solicitor Adrian Mueller (or any other legal advice at owners corporation expense) must be 
prevented, or owners who are financial allowed to vote through FULL DISCLOSURE at the general meeting. Lot 158 looks 
forward to the next general meeting, which MUST reintroduce all their Motions from AGM 2018.

b) For the Executive Committee to "vote" they must be legally elected and financial before general meetings. Putting aside 
previous general meetings for the moment, it is proven beyond reasonable doubt that Annual General Meetings 2016, 2017, 
and 2018 were conducted by failing to satisfy quorum due to owners who were unfinancial before the meeting. Lot 158 has 
that evidence. To be an authorised person of the owners corporation, an owner must be financial before the general meeting.
Strata Schemes Management Act (SSMA) 2015, Schedule 2, c9(4) states: voting rights cannot be exercised if contributions 
not paid - member of the strata committee is not entitled to vote on any motion put or proposed to be put to the strata 
committee if the member was, or was nominated as a member by a member who was, an unfinancial owner of a lot in the 
strata scheme at the date notice of the meeting was given and the amounts owed by the unfinancial owner were not paid 
before the meeting.

It is crucial stating that some owners were disallowed to vote at general meetings even when they owed as little as $0.10 in 
the past (Lot 158 has that evidence).

c) Solicitor Adrian Mueller is currently under investigation by the Office of Legal Services Commissioner since 24 January 
2019 and listed by Lot 158 as "person of interest" in Police Event E65804633 since July 2017. Partial listing of issues that 
were submitted (legal practitioners call them "allegations"):

• Continuous professional misconduct since 2012 that earned him close to $80.000.00 so far. 
• Four versions of the Standard Costs Agreement and only one contained the alleged signature by Mr. Gary Webb 

nine months after the engagement: 
• 17 July 2012: Signed Standard Costs Agreement by BCS Strata Management Epping Branch Manager Mr. 

Paul Banoob in document generated on 16 April 2013 and undisclosed to owners, CTTT, and District 
Court in 2012, 2013, and 2014. Found in strata documents in sixth paid document search on 13 June 2017.

• 25 July 2012: Allegedly signed Standard Costs Agreement by BCS Strata Management Mr. Gary Webb as 
provided in Statutory Declaration by Mr. Peter Bone to CTTT on 19 April 2013 (nine months after the 
event). 

• 28 August 2012: Undisclosed to owners, CTTT, and District Court in 2012, 2013, and 2014. BCS Strata 
Management insurance claim form and files without signed Standard Costs Agreement. 

• 29 January 2013: Solicitor Mr. Adrian Mueller’s submission to CTTT without signed Standard Costs 
Agreement. 

• Solicitor suggested to the Executive Committee to use insurance claims to pay for his invoices on 2 July 2012 in 
spite of knowing that the owners corporation had no funds to pay even the standard bills in that month (had to 
withdraw money from the other funds secretly). 

• Solicitor was well informed about the secret change of the insurance contract clause (without owners corporation 
knowledge or approval) and the first claim made for his expenses only two weeks later (at the end of August 2012). 

• Solicitor provided false statement to the Tribunal that Lot 3 was away from the country at the CTTT Hearing on 19 
October 2012 but the same evening Lot 3 was found present at the Annual General Meeting. 

• Solicitor confirmed to CTTT in letter on 26 October 2012 that Lot 3 was NOT part of the proceedings, and yet, had 
full knowledge of insurance claims for "Defence of Lot 3" which amounted to $24,919.31 (plus GST) in period 
August 2012 to mid-2013.

• Solicitor was well informed about the invoice paid for insurance premiums to Gallagher Australia on 21 September 
2012 in amount of $84,414.77, which was 74.38% higher than in September 2011 (due to warning by the Insurance 
Broker about the "high risk" CTTT case in August 2012). 

• Solicitor was well informed about losses to Lot 158 in amount of close to $29,000.00 due to his actions. 



• Solicitor was well aware that in 2012 and 2013 none of the owners (including the Executive Committee members) 
were paying levies for second gas connections. 

• Solicitor was well aware about the documented losses above $120,000.00 for private water and gas reimbursements
to selective townhouse owners without Special Resolution of Special By-Law in period 1999 to May 2013. 

• Solicitor was well aware of the plan for BCS Strata Management to submit Statutory Declaration and be present at 
CTTT Hearings in 2012/2013 but he disallowed it.

• Solicitor was well aware of SP52948 owners not wanting to engage him as per Lot 158 evidence in May 2013. One 
of the votes against the Solicitor belonged to Rabbi Cohen, who is still the owner in the complex. 

• Solicitor sent secret note to the Executive Committee urging them to produce "signed contract" one day after third 
CTTT hearing on 17 April 2013. 

• Solicitor initiated CTTT case without official owners corporation approval or disclosure to owners on 10 December 
2012, although he was well aware that the insurance had approved $12,714.65 for his legal costs three days earlier 
on 7 December 2012.

• Solicitor was directly involved in preventing Lot 158 from viewing strata files in 2012 and 2013 without valid 
reason. Solicitor's invoice dated 6 March 2013 shows the efforts by him to prevent access to them (including the 
Standard Costs Agreement which ALL owners should have received as early as July 2012).

• Solicitor Adrian Mueller is a listed "person of interest" in Police Event E65804633 since July 2017. 
• Payment was uncovered for the Solicitor dated 28 May 2018. It was in amount of $350.00 (plus GST) for "Report to 

Police", in which, according to the Police statements on 28 August 2018, he did not provide crucial eight emails. In 
strata files I found no Standard Costs Agreement for the expense dated 28 May 2018 and no invoice issued by 
Solicitor Adrian Mueller. In strata files on 31 May 2018, we found no Standard Costs Agreement for the expense 
dated 28 May 2018 and no invoice issued by the Solicitor. 

• In FY 2018, the Solicitor charged SP52948 $5,550.00 (plus GST) for services which include attempt to silence Lot 
158 through "Bylaw Prohibiting Unreasonable Communication". None of the owners were notified about the 
amount of costs incurred by the Solicitor at any time during 2018 and 2019. The registration of the By-Laws was 
illegal because there was no quorum to approve them at the general meeting.

• OLSC made a judgement on 31 May 2013 in file 41366_2, in which this was acknowledged the Solicitor partially 
acted in breach of legal obligations. OLSC confirmed that his “Fee Proposals” did not fully comply with the costs 
disclosure requirements set out in section 309 of the Legal Professions Act 2004 (LPA). 

• Solicitor was actively involved in the creation of the Statutory Declaration with eight crucial emails still missing as 
evidence, against the wishes of owners corporation or approval at any general meeting or disclosure, caused 
excessive courier costs to owners corporation in amount of $851.56 on 19 April 2013. 

• Eight emails that are part of the Statutory Declaration signed by Mr. Peter Bone are crucial and "nobody" seems to 
have them or prove they existed. Lying in a Statutory Declaration is punishable by up to five years in prison, 
according to the NSW Oaths Act. Former judge Marcus Einfeld served two years in prison for knowingly making a 
false statement under oath and for attempting to pervert the course of justice. The case stemmed from the 
improbable catalyst of a false statutory declaration over a $77 speeding fine. Justice James said the retired judge 
engaged in "deliberate, premeditated perjury" in order to avoid incurring demerit points on his driver's licence.

• Solicitor must not engage in helping members of the SP52948 Executive Committee to directly or indirectly cause 
physical or mental harm to Lot 158 just because they found strong evidence of financial mismanagement in the 
complex. This especially applies to a female owner, who has special medical conditions and any stress can kill her 
(medical certificate confirms it). 

• During 2012, Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to comply with CTTT orders for the Hearing three times as well. 
• Four fraudulent insurance claims for non-existent CTTT case "Defence of Lot 3", which, four years later, CHU 

Insurance forced owners corporation to repay $8,800.00. 
• Over the last seven years, Solicitor was well informed and had received numerous pieces of evidence that SP52948 

did not have valid Executive Committee and that their decisions were not made with valid quorum at general 
meetings, as per SSMA 1996 and 2015. Failing to know that a contract for his engagement had to be valid is 
negligent to the extent that disciplinary action can and should be taken due to repetitive nature of his involvement. 

• Section 316 of the Crimes Act 1900 (NSW) makes the knowing concealment of information relating to a "serious 
indictable offence" a crime punishable by up to 2 years imprisonment. Section 4 of that Act defines "serious 
indictable offence" to mean an indictable offence that is punishable by imprisonment for life or for a term of 5 years
or more. Subject to certain exclusions this generally includes the fraud offences in Part 4AA of that Act as well as 
stealing and similar offences in Part 4. Section 316(1) states if a person has committed a serious indictable offence 
and another person who knows or believes that the offence has been committed and that he or she has information 
which might be of material assistance in securing the apprehension of the offender or the prosecution or conviction 
of the offender for it fails without reasonable excuse to bring that information to the attention of a member of the 
Police Force or other appropriate authority, that other person is liable to imprisonment for 2 years.



• Solicitor engaged in personal threats and bullying trying to prevent CTTT cases in period 2012-2014. 
• Solicitor continued to delay CTTT proceedings in spite of persistent requests to provide evidence of his legal 

engagement for six months (until 19 April 2013). 
• Duty of care arises where it is reasonable to expect that Lot 158 might be injured or harmed if they act or behave 

with a lack of care. This is called foreseeability. Just during 2018, these events occurred:
• Police Event E244254697 on 26 March 2018, which ended with Lot 158 female owner being taken to 

emergency due to fear of stalking and intimidation with blood pressure 218/109 (she had two mild strokes 
12 years ago and any stress can literally kill her – she is even excused from Jury duty due to multiple 
medical conditions), 

• Police Event E69860959 on 26 October 2018, with another attempt to stalk, bully, and intimidate Lot 158 
female owner, 

• Police Event E265804296 on 14 November 2019, attempt to intimidate and threaten even male owner of 
Lot 158 whilst collecting information about OH&S and smoking in the complex.

• Solicitor worked against owners corporation by merely protecting own interests and interests of a group of selected 
Executive Committee members of which some had/have not been legal to represent owners corporation. With 
knowledge that his contract was NOT signed on the date as listed in Statutory Declaration to CTTT on 19 April 
2013, Solicitor continued to misrepresent the owners corporation to this day (including the District Court mediation
in February 2014). 

• Solicitor must not provide a statement which they know to be untrue, 
• Solicitor must act with honesty, integrity and candour, 
• Solicitor must correct any statement made subsequently discovered to be wrong, 
• Solicitor must avoid conflicts of interest, 
• Solicitor must avoid any compromise to their integrity and professional independence,

• Solicitor's continuous actions constitute repetitive, premeditated, orchestrated efforts to: 
• Mislead the Court, 
• Abuse the Court’s processes (continuing with court proceeding found to be wrongly conceived).

and much more. 

d) Crime Stoppers Report dated 25 July 2017 which evolved into Police Event E65804633. Some of the persons of interest 
listed in the Event with allegations of misconduct and acts against the laws:

Mr. Stan Pogorelsky
Mr. Moses Levitt
Mrs. Maureen McDonald
Waratah Strata Management (Mr. Robert Crosbie and Mr. Simon Wicks)
Solicitor Mr. Adrian Mueller

e) Based on referral by the Member of Parliament, Minister for Innovation NSW Matthew Kean asked Fair Trading NSW to 
consider the concerns about SP52948 and strata managers on 10 October 2017. Since that time, Fair Trading NSW has been
gathering evidence and files about BCS Strata Management, Waratah Strata Management, and SP52948 (mis)management. 
Fair Trading NSW is conducting its own investigations, without Lot 158 formally raising any case. Waratah Strata 
Management is well aware of file 9363613 because they responded to Fair Trading NSW this year.

The fact that most of financial and many other files do not exist for SP52948 (as confirmed in document search on 13 June 
2017 and 31 May 2019) creates serious issues for the Executive Committee and the strata managers. This might be of 
interest to the Australian Taxation Office as well.

f) Lot 158 has evidence that two current members of the Executive Committee (lot 147 and Lot 181) could not and cannot be 
legal representatives of the owners corporation and have no rights to be on the committee. A small hint for a few years (Lot 
158 will not offer full details in this email):

• Not paid any levies in FY 2004, FY 2008, FY 2012, FY 2013, and possibly FY 2018 (based on Waratah Strata 
Management own statements at meetings in 2019). Lot 158 recently located four more financial years and this 
statement might extend.

• Not paid proper levies in many other years. 
• Not paid prescribed 10% simple interest for years when levies were overdue. 
• They also provided statements to CTTT in 2011 and 2012 which can now easily be seen as false.

This applies to other owners with second gas connection too.

Unredacted evidence in document “20190618-WITHOUT PREJUDICE_ Request to stop wasting strata funds on legal 
expenses that cannot succeed – 18Jun2019-455.pdf”. 



56) On 21 June 2019, Solicitor Adrian Mueller was notified by Waratah Strata Management that Mr. LOT 158 initiated OLSC 
case against him. Extract from email:

We advise that your advice is being funded jointly by the OC, Waratah Strata Management, and Uniqueco (building 
manager) and therefore your advice should be on behalf of all 3 parties 

We do however provide you with the attached email from LOT 158 which states that he lodged a complaint against you with 
the Office of Legal Services Commissioner. Please advise whether there is a conflict of interest for you in acting on this 
matter based on the complaint. If yes, please suggest how we should proceed.

We are currently preparing a USB with a copy of all of the correspondence received from Mr LOT 158 since the AGM 2018. 
This will be grouped into documents that have been issued publicly to owners and those that have just been issued to the 
committee, strata manager and building manager. We will forward that to you once compiled.

On a related issue, we received from BCS at the change of strata managers a USB of their archive records. In April 2018, we
provide that USB to the Police who were investigating a complaint lodged with them by Mr. LOT 158. Unfortunately, the 
Police lost the USB (We have correspondence to support that fact) We have requested on a number of occasions for BCS to 
provide us with a copy of that USB (which we assume they will still have in their archive records), with no response. Please 
advise whether you have any connection with BCS management that may assist in having a copy of that USB provided

 

In spite of question being asked about his possible conflict of interest, Solicitor Adrian Mueller ignored it and then failed to 
offer assistance to OLSC.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-email-from-Waratah-Strata-Management-to-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-
21Jun2019.jpg”.



57) In spite of Solicitor Adrian Mueller being fully aware that there is an OLSC case 56561, he appeared not to be concerned 
about any conflict of interest and continued to represent owners corporation SP52948 and was allegedly approved (without 
any evidence of signed Standard Costs Agreement) in minutes of committee meeting on 20 June 2019:

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Minutes-EC-meeting-20Jun2019.pdf”.

Letter secretly sent to owners by Waratah Strata Management (we did not receive it) is in unredacted document “SP52948-
Waratah-Strata-Management-correspondence-to-owners-about-Lot-158-25Jun2019.pdf”. It is full of horrific accusations 
against Mr. LOT 158, without any evidence.

Similar attempts to discredit Mr. LOT 158 was secretly sent to all owners on 21 July 2017, which was prepared by three 
unfinancial owners who had no legal right to be members of the committee or vote (Mr. Stan Pogorelsky, Mr. Moses Levitt, 
and Mrs. Lorna Zelenzuk) and not only made disturbing false accusations but Solicitor Adrian Mueller was certainly aware 
of them.

Unredacted evidence in document SP52948-EC-letter-to-owners-whilst-three-members-unfinancial-and-not-legal-to-be-on-
the-committee-21Jul2017.pdf”.



58) Solicitor Adrian Mueller prepared Deed of Agreement for Lot 158 before Annual General Meeting in October 2019, 
which Waratah Strata Management presented in person to Mr. LOT 158, threatening serious legal action if Mr.s and Mr. LOT
158 both did not sign it immediately:

Unredacted evidence in document “Adrian-Mueller-LOT 158-Deed-of-Agreement-17Oct2019.pdf”.



59) In letter sent by Solicitor Adrian Mueller to O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors (who represented Lot 158), he 
categorically denied access to strata files and even questioning why we would need to have such strata documents on 14 
November 2019:

The representatives of the owners corporation are mindful of the expense of defamation litigation.

However, they consider that litigation is likely to be the only way to resolve the dispute between the parties particularly if Mr
and Mrs LOT 158 do not enter into the Deed of Settlement and Release that was given to them. The representatives of the 
owners corporation certainly have the fortitude to litigate.

Turning to the requests set out in your letter, the representatives of the owners corporation have instructed us to reject them. 
They do not see why Mr and Mrs LOT 158’s entry into the deed should be conditional on those requests being met.

Mr LOT 158 has undertaken repeated inspections of the records of the owners corporation. The representatives of the 
owners corporation consider that all available records of the owners corporation were made available to Mr LOT 158 
during those inspections as a result of which if Mr LOT 158 does not have any records that he desires that is because those 
records are likely not available.

Equally importantly, if Mr LOT 158 is truly prepared to confine his communications to matters relating to the maintenance 
and repair of Lot 158 only, and to cease and desist from disseminating what the representatives of the owners corporation 
consider to be defamatory material about them, then what is the purpose of Mr LOT 158 pressing for the records to be 
produced to him?

In the circumstances, the representatives of the owners corporation do not consider that there is any merit in Mr LOT 158’s 
request for those records to be provided to him and they are not prepared to agree to the request.

The strata legislation imposes on the owners corporation a duty to maintain and repair the common property. This means 
there is no need for the Deed to be amended to give Mr LOT 158 the same rights in relation to the maintenance of his 
property as the rights that are enjoyed by other owners.

Unredacted evidence in document “"Letter to OBrien Criminal and Civil Solicitors-14Nov2019.pdf”.

 



 

Unredacted evidence in document “Letter to OBrien Criminal and Civil Solicitors-14Nov2019.pdf”.

60) On behalf of Lot 158, O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors requested response on several matters on 24 April 2020. Request 
was not complied with by Solicitor Adrian Mueller and his barrister.

Unredacted evidence in document “LOT 158Letter24April.pdf”.

In the request, O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors stated:

Mr. LOT 158 has provided us with material that raises serious questions as to the workings and legality of the Executive 
Committee (the committee) of the Owners Corporation of Strata Plan 92548. We have been instructed by Mr. LOT 158 to 
commence proceedings in the NSW Civil & Administrative Tribunal (NCAT) aimed at questioning the legality of various 
decisions of the committee and at obtaining orders that the committee fulfill certain obligations where it has been negligent.

It would be in the best interests of all parties to resolve this situation without the need to escalate matters into the NCAT.

Further, O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors requested evidence and response on:

• Legality of Committee

• Mr. LOT 158 a Member of The Committee

• Defamation



• Mediation

• Access to Documents

Some of the documents requested:

 

 

Response has never been received, in spite of multiple requests.



61) Committee meeting on 7 May 2020 gave owners appearance that an unnamed barrister (their signed Standard Costs 
Agreement has also never been provided to any owner) would respond to  O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitor’s demands:

 

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Minutes-EC-meeting-7May2020.pdf”.

Strata manager, Solicitor Adrian Mueller, and committee members never followed up on this commitment and have not 
reported it to owners.

62) On 27 July 2020, Mr. LOT 158 made attempt to reason with members of the committee by asking them to respond to 
O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitor’s demands dated 24 April 2020. The email, in part, contained the following request:

Based on below brief statements, we are giving you an opportunity to take proper actions now:

a) Provide written statements to Lot 158 in next 24 hours that you were personally misled about these events by Solicitor 
Adrian Mueller in the past and that you did not know about fraudulent activities, and now offer full support for 
investigations to proceed.

b) Provide written authorization to Lot 158 in next 24 hours to represent owners corporation and deal with:

Office of Legal Services Commissioner case 56561 (professional misconduct by Solicitor Adrian Mueller)

Police Event E65804633

Fair Trading NSW cases (there are seven of them)

Pending NCAT case (if you persist in defending the indefensible)

c) Provide written authorization to Lot 158 in next 24 hours to assist with access to any strata file that has been listed in 
previous document searches.

d) Issue immediate order to Solicitor Adrian Mueller to reimburse owners corporation for all SP52948, of which $26,500.00 
will promptly have to be repaid to Lot 158 (plus around $4,000.00 for legal costs).

e) Notify owners about these events.

f) As a friendly advice, you might consider if your position as committee member is justifiable any longer. 

Committee members ignored the requests and did not reply. 

Unredacted evidence in document “20200727-CONFIDENTIAL OFFER_ SP52948 Your actions today and tomorrow-
1007.pdf”

63) On 29 July 2020, Mr. LOT 158 sent an email to Waratah Strata Management advising that this offer to settle problems 
privately expired. Strata manager did not reply.

64) Email correspondence from Lot 158 to Waratah Strata Management: 381 messages were sent in period 2 January 2019 to 9 
May 2021. Examples of repetitive emails that Waratah Strata Management, committee members, and Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller largely ignored: 

• 41 complaints about smoking in the complex and faulty/expired smoke alarms in the Applicant's unit (one of the smoke 
alarms in our unit expired in 2005 and was declared faulty in fire inspection in 2020 and 2021 and not replaced until October 
2021, the second smoke alarm expired in 2019 and was declared faulty in fire inspection in 2020 and 2021 and only replaced 
in October 2021), 

• 18 complaints about stalking/intimidation/harassment of the Applicant by maintenance staff and selective members of the 
executive committee, 

• 12 Police events for stalking, harassment, intimidation, and threats against Lot 158 by few maintenance staff, few committee 
members, and some tenants in the complex,



• 8 request to obtain access to CCTV recordings for stalking, harassment, intimidation, and threats against Lot 158 were 
silently ignored by Waratah Strata Management, committee members, and maintenance staff (even Police did not get access 
to them),

• 45 requests to strata manager and executive committee to offer assistance to Police with their investigations of fraud and 
stalking/harassment/intimidation of us by maintenance staff and selective members of the executive committee, 

• Solicitor Adrian Mueller and committee members are directly responsible or had fully knowledge and took no action to 
prevent repeated threats, intimidation, harassment, and even death warnings to Mr. LOT 158. Solicitor failed to inform NCAT
about it and, by not attending the Hearing, coerced the Tribunal to ignore Lot 158’s evidence. File provided to committee 
members on 30 August 2021. No response was received:

“SP52948-serious-threats-to-Lot-158-due-to-strata-mismanagement-investigations-Aug2021.pdf”

• Example from submission by now-deceased committee member in file SCS 11/00711 dated 14 February 2011:

Also as Australia is a democracy it is a free decision of each owner whether to attend the meetings or not, not a 
dictatorship Mr D. LOT 158 was educated under by Marshall Tito of Yugoslavia.

• On 9 September 2013 committee member Mr. Bruce Copland instructed BCS Strata Management to make Mr. LOT 158’s 
document search as "inconvenient as possible", which ended with most files not found in strata manager's office.

• Extract from secret email by Waratah Strata Management and committee members to Police on 13 April 2018: 

We have not yet obtained legal advice, but it is possible that DB is in breach of this Deed of Settlement by making his 
current current allegations to Police...

The strata committee are extremely concerned that DB is continuing to waste Police time on these false 
accusations.

• Extract from letter sent to all owners by three unfinancial owners (who had no rights to be on the committee or vote at 
meetings due to unpaid levies since 1999 (2001 for one of them) (Mr. Stan Pogorelsky, Mr. Moses Levitt, and Mrs. Lorna 
Zelenzuk) on 21 July 2017:

A letter has been received by the SC from a resident objection to DB taking photographs of her residence. He 
has also been seen searching through Recycle Bins on the property. Residents are advised to shred all personal 
documents disposed of in the recycle bins. DB has also conducted an inspection of the OC records held by the 
strata manager (as all owners are entitled, but has then disclosed personal information in his emails to owners. 
Legal advice is currently being obtained to advise the SC how to legally prevent this behaviour.

DB has previously made accusations to the Police against past and present members of the committee and 
employees of the Building Manager. On Police examinations of his claims they dismissed his charges as baseless.

However, DB is at present facing a charge of assault against one of the employees of the Building Manager. 
You are encouraged to ignore his misinformed, inaccurate and twisted version of events. Correspondence such 
as that being distributed by DB has a serious impact on the harmony within the property and the value of your 
units.

   Macquarie Gardens does not have a history of overdue levies…

   Correspondence such as that being distributed by DB has a serious impact on the harmony within the    
property and the value of your units. Any prospective purchaser of a unit within the building will carry out an 
inspection of the strata books and records. When those records disclose serious disharmony, many owners may 
choose not to purchase a unit in your building, reducing the competition from buyers and the price achieved.

All invoices issued to me in relation to gas levies have been paid (Mrs. Lorna Zelenzuk).

The allegation that his by-law has been hidden is false. By-law #4 appears in the list of Macquarie Gardens 
By-Laws (Mrs. Lorna Zelenzuk).

Horrible accusations, in spite of strata manager and committee members knowing they were false and utterly 
fabricated (Mr. LOT 158 provided to NCAT Police oral and written statement which proves the above statements were
false).



• Extract from email sent by unfinancial owner Mr. Stan Pogorelsky (CC-ed to all other members of the committee) on 3 April 
2017, when CHU Insurance requested repayment in amount of $8,800.00 for insurance claims made for costs of Solicitor 
Adrian Mueller in 2012 and 2013. In email, the committee members threatens Mr. LOT 158 to not disclose to insurance 
company details of the fraudulent insurance claims:

The Executive Committee will discuss and alter or confirm the minutes of the previous committee meeting at 
the next available committee meeting. Your request for alteration of the minutes will be discussed at that meeting.

You are not permitted to speak directly with CHU Insurance. You have no authority to speak to them and must 
direct your concerns to the strata manager who will pass your concerns on to CHU if appropriate.

• Extract from Minutes of committee meeting on 21 March 2019, after Mr. LOT 158 successfully prevented strata and building
manager to illegally use Ryde Council land for parking, in spite of being warned by Ryde Council that such activities were 
against the law. The statement imply that I would be responsible for attracting snakes and other vermin:

Use of visitor parking spaces and Council parkland - It is noted that the owners of Lot 158 have lodged multiple 
complaints with Council about residents use of the Council parkland at the rear of the property for parking. As a 
result of those complaints Council are now preventing residents from using that area for parking. It is also noted that 
the Owners Corporation will no longer be permitted to maintain that parkland and that Council will only mow the 
area every 2 - 3 months, so the area is likely to become overgrown and attract mice, rats, snakes and other vermin.

• Extract from secret email by Waratah Strata Management and committee members to Fair Trading NSW on 17 May 2019 
(whilst three of nine members were unfinancial to vote or be on the committee due to unpaid levies since 1999 and one was 
unfinancial since 2001, Mr. Stan Pogorelsky, Mr. Moses Levitt, and Mrs. Marianna Paltikian), whilst preventing access to 
strata documents: 

An Owners Corporation is a democracy – everyone has a say and everyone a vote and the majority rules. 218 
owners in SP 52948 are very happy with the operation of the Owners Corporation and its strata committee. 
One owner thinks all of the other owners are idiots or thieves. Why should the OC and SC have to continue to 
respond to and waste its time and resources on one recalcitrant, obsessive owner.

• Extract from secret email by Waratah Strata Management and committee members to Fair Trading NSW on 20 May 2019 (11
days before Lot 158 had scheduled document search at the strata manager’s office):

Some of the SC members have expressed concern about the information provided to you being provided to Mr 
LOT 158, specifically the Strata Roll, including the owners contact details. Mr LOT 158 has for many years 
emailed many of the owners that he has been able to obtain email addresses for…The SC understands that Mr LOT 

158 is entitled to obtain a copy of the Strata Roll when he conducts a strata inspection, but he is not entitled to a 
copy of the owners contact details. 

11 days later, Lot 158 was not given any access to Strata Roll whilst in strata manager’s office.

• Extract from email by Waratah Strata Management to me trying to ignore the fact that they allowed unfinancial owners to 
vote and be elected on committee (in full non-compliance with strata laws): 

You may not understand the concept of a democracy, but at the legally convened Annual General Meeting a 
ballot was held to elect the strata committee in accordance with the Strata Schemes Management Act at which time 9 
owners received 65 votes each and you received 1 vote – your own. You must be delusional if you think you are a 
validly elected member of the Executive Committee.

• 82 requests to add our Motions for owners to vote and consider at meeting, 

• 19 complaints about dangers in the complex (due to lack of maintenance and compliance with by-laws)

Currently, there are three outstanding repairs and checks in our unit which strata manager, maintenance staff and committee 
members refuse to attend to.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-used-Unreasonable-Communications-Special-By-Law-against-Lot-158-six-
times-without-disclosure-to-NCAT-SC-20-33352.pdf”.

Evidence of threats to us (Solicitor Adrian Mueller has been fully aware of and took no actions to prevent them)  in document
“SP52948-serious-threats-to-Lot-158-due-to-strata-mismanagement-investigations-Nov2021.pdf”.



65) Another attempt to communicate with Solicitor Adrian Mueller was on on February 2022, email to him titled:

“OLSC case CAS005901 - Request for Solicitor Adrian Mueller to respond with evidence on 8Feb2022”

No response was received.



Narrative 2 (Reasons for and outcome of NCAT case 20/33352)

66) In letter sent by Solicitor Adrian Mueller to O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors (who represented Lot 158), he categorically 
denied access to strata files and even questioning why we would need to have such strata documents on 14 November 2019:

The representatives of the owners corporation are mindful of the expense of defamation litigation.

However, they consider that litigation is likely to be the only way to resolve the dispute between the parties particularly if Mr and
Mrs LOT 158 do not enter into the Deed of Settlement and Release that was given to them. The representatives of the owners 
corporation certainly have the fortitude to litigate.

Turning to the requests set out in your letter, the representatives of the owners corporation have instructed us to reject them. They
do not see why Mr and Mrs LOT 158’s entry into the deed should be conditional on those requests being met.

Mr LOT 158 has undertaken repeated inspections of the records of the owners corporation. The representatives of the owners 
corporation consider that all available records of the owners corporation were made available to Mr LOT 158 during those 
inspections as a result of which if Mr LOT 158 does not have any records that he desires that is because those records are likely 
not available.

Equally importantly, if Mr LOT 158 is truly prepared to confine his communications to matters relating to the maintenance and 
repair of Lot 158 only, and to cease and desist from disseminating what the representatives of the owners corporation consider to
be defamatory material about them, then what is the purpose of Mr LOT 158 pressing for the records to be produced to him?

In the circumstances, the representatives of the owners corporation do not consider that there is any merit in Mr LOT 158’s 
request for those records to be provided to him and they are not prepared to agree to the request.

The strata legislation imposes on the owners corporation a duty to maintain and repair the common property. This means there is
no need for the Deed to be amended to give Mr LOT 158 the same rights in relation to the maintenance of his property as the 
rights that are enjoyed by other owners.

Unredacted evidence in document “"Letter to OBrien Criminal and Civil Solicitors-14Nov2019.pdf”.

67) Lot 158, with attempt to avoid costs to all parties, initiated Fair Trading NSW mediation case 00351498 on 6 March 2020. All past
mediation attempts, which were FREE of costs to all parties, were rejected by owners corporation.

68) Agenda for paper committee meeting with a single Motion to vote in regards to Fair Trading NSW mediation request was 
prepared by Waratah Strata Management on Saturday 7 Mar 2020 at 11:27 hours.



69) Paper committee meeting was scheduled for 12 March 2020 at 16:00 hours:

The agenda was not detailed, and had no information about Fair Trading NSW case for owners:

Notice fails SSMA 2015, Schedule 2, Part 2(7):

The notice of a meeting must include a detailed agenda for the meeting.

70) Lot 158 have not received any copies of notices for meetings since 2018.

71) This notice, as all other notices sent by Waratah Strata Management since 2018 failed to satisfy SSMA 2015, Schedule 2, Part 2, 
4(1) and Schedule 1.18 of the Justice Legislation Amendment Bill (No 3) 2018 (NSW) that amended section 76 (1) (b) of the 
Interpretation Act 1987 (NSW). 

The changes extend the time it takes to effect service by post for notices and documents from four to seven working days after the
day of postage.

This legislative change was assented to on 28 November and has immediate impacts on the time required to serve notices and 
documents under strata and community title legislation, such as notices of meetings and notices of action as to proposed levy 
recovery proceedings.

The change adds significantly to the lead time for the calling of all meetings given that the extended period of seven days both 
necessitates that some weekend days will be caught, as well as increasing the occurrences of one or more public holidays falling 
within the service by post period. The day of the meeting must be excluded from the calculation of service by post under section 
36 of the Interpretation Act 1987 (NSW).

72) The actual meeting happened five days later, without any updated given to owners, on 17 March 2020 at 09:00 hours.

73) Owners corporation declined to attend free-of-costs mediation in Fair Trading NSW case 00351498 on 17 March 2020, without 
providing owners with details of the case, or giving owners copy of the mediation request.

Three committee members (out of nine), who voted against free mediation, were unfinancial to vote or be on the committee due 
to unpaid levies: Mr. Moses Levitt, Mr. Stan Pogorelsky, and Mrs. Marianna Paltikian.



74) On 25 March 2020, Lot 158 sent the following email to Waratah Strata Management, which was never tabled in minutes of any 
meeting or shared with owners. Th Subject line of the email was:

“SUMMARY: Waratah Strata Management refusal to notify owners about critical issues including Fair Trading Mediation and 
expired contract with Waratah Strata Management”.

No reply was received.

75) On 24 April 2020, on behalf of Lot 158, O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors sent request to owners corporation. In the request, 
O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors stated:

Mr. LOT 158 has provided us with material that raises serious questions as to the workings and legality of the Executive 
Committee (the committee) of the Owners Corporation of Strata Plan 92548. We have been instructed by Mr. LOT 158 to 
commence proceedings in the NSW Civil & Administrative Tribunal (NCAT) aimed at questioning the legality of various 
decisions of the committee and at obtaining orders that the committee fulfill certain obligations where it has been negligent.

It would be in the best interests of all parties to resolve this situation without the need to escalate matters into the NCAT.

Further, O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors requested evidence and response on:

• Legality of Committee

• Mr. LOT 158 a Member of The Committee

• Defamation

• Mediation

• Access to Documents

Some of the documents requested:

 

 

Request was not complied with by Solicitor Adrian Mueller and his barrister.



Unredacted evidence in document “LOT 158Letter24April.pdf”.

Response has never been received, in spite of multiple requests.

76) Committee meeting on 7 May 2020 gave owners appearance that an unnamed barrister (their signed Standard Costs Agreement 
has also never been provided to any owner) would respond to  O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitor’s demands:

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Minutes-EC-meeting-7May2020.pdf”.

Strata manager, Solicitor Adrian Mueller, and committee members never followed up on this commitment and have not reported 
it to owners.

77) On 27 July 2020, Mr. LOT 158 made attempt to reason with members of the committee by asking them to respond to O’Brien 
Criminal & Civil Solicitor’s demands dated 24 April 2020. The email, in part, contained the following request:

Based on below brief statements, we are giving you an opportunity to take proper actions now:

a) Provide written statements to Lot 158 in next 24 hours that you were personally misled about these events by Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller in the past and that you did not know about fraudulent activities, and now offer full support for investigations to proceed.

b) Provide written authorization to Lot 158 in next 24 hours to represent owners corporation and deal with:

Office of Legal Services Commissioner case 56561 (professional misconduct by Solicitor Adrian Mueller)

Police Event E65804633

Fair Trading NSW cases (there are seven of them)

Pending NCAT case (if you persist in defending the indefensible)

c) Provide written authorization to Lot 158 in next 24 hours to assist with access to any strata file that has been listed in previous
document searches.

d) Issue immediate order to Solicitor Adrian Mueller to reimburse owners corporation for all SP52948, of which $26,500.00 will 
promptly have to be repaid to Lot 158 (plus around $4,000.00 for legal costs).

e) Notify owners about these events.

f) As a friendly advice, you might consider if your position as committee member is justifiable any longer. 

Committee members ignored the requests and did not reply. 

Unredacted evidence in document “20200727-CONFIDENTIAL OFFER_ SP52948 Your actions today and tomorrow-1007.pdf”

78) On 29 July 2020, Mr. LOT 158 sent an email to Waratah Strata Management with offer to settle problems expired. It was ignored.



79) On 13 August 2020, Waratah Strata Management sent this email to Solicitor Adrian Mueller:

 

80) On 20 August 2020, Solicitor replied:



81) Mr. LOT 158 provided five methods for evidence and four were ignored by the Tribunal: DVDs, USB keys, emails, and secure 
website.

Tribunal ignored their own order given at Directions Hearing to provide files on secure website, which Lot 158 complied with in 
late September 2020.

Mr. LOT 158 provided full secure website login details to the Respondent (including request to allow all SP52948 to view them, 
which was ignored by the Respondent) on:

Unlike strata documents held at BCS Strata Management and Waratah Strata Management which experienced alleged multiple 
data losses (including ransomware attack in 2019 which has many holes in the Respondent’s story), files on Mr. LOT 158’s 
website are guaranteed.

82) On 25 September 2020,  Mr. LOT 158 sent details of secure website access to Waratah Strata Management for all owners in the 
complex, so that owners can be prepared for NCAT case, and also discuss it at the coming General Meeting on 22 October 2020. 
Subject line of the email was:

“CONFIDENTIAL NCAT SC 20/33352 website access for all owners”

Waratah Strata Management ignored the request silently and no owner received information about files.

83) On 2 and 3 October 2020, and in early 2021, in preparation for NCAT case SC 20/33352, Mr. LOT 158 sent polite but firm letters 
of demand to the following recipients, asking for them to be reasonable and avoid legal costs by simply offering evidence or 
refuting Mr. LOT 158’s claims:

• Letter of demand to Pica Group managers (parent company of BCS Strata Management) on 2 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Stan Pogorelsky (ex-EC Chairperson and current EC member, who is alleged to be unfinancial due 
to unpaid full levies since 1999) on 2 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Moses Levitt (current EC member, who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full levies since 
2001) on 2 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Jeffery Wang (current EC member) on 2 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mrs. Maureen McDonald (long-term ex-EC member) on 2 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Robert Crosbie at Waratah Strata Management on 2 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Upali Aranwela (long-term ex-EC Treasurer, who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full 
levies since 1999) on 3 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mrs. Lorna Zelenzuk (ex-EC Chairperson and EC member, who is alleged to be unfinancial due to 
unpaid full levies since 1999) on 3 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Peter Friede who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full levies on 3 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Ms. Joanne Hessink (ex-EC member) on 3 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Robert Lev who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full levies on 3 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Peter Yeend who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full levies on 3 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Thomas Karolewski (ex-Treasurer and current EC member) on 3 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mrs. Genelle Godbee (current EC member) on 3 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. John Gore (current EC member) on 4 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Francis Tso Yuan Chow who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full levies on 4 October 2020



• Letter of demand to Mr. Stuart Greene at Waratah Strata Management on 5 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. John Ward (ex-EC Treasurer and EC member) on 6 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mr. Bruce Copland (ex-EC Chairperson) on 6 October 2020

• Letter of demand to Mrs. Marianna Paltikian (current EC Secretary) who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full levies
on 8 October 2020

• Repeated letter of demand to Pica Group managers (parent company of BCS Strata Management) on 2 November 2020

• Repeated letter of demand to Pica Group CustomerCare as per their public assurances to offer assistance on ProductReview 
website on 20 December 2020

• Final letter of demand to Pica Group CustomerCare as per their public assurances to offer assistance on ProductReview 
website on 13 January 2021

• Letter of demand to Solicitor Adrian Mueller one day before AGM 2020 on 21 October 2020

No reply was received from any of them. 

84) On 21 October 2020, after received “threat” from Solicitor Adrian Mueller, Mr. LOT 158 sent two emails to Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller who again attempted to issue secret defamation threats BEFORE pending NCAT case (in this event it was SC 20/33352). 
Solicitor did not notify NCAT about this event. In the first email, Mr. LOT 158 said, amongst the others:

After Waratah Strata Management and committee members rejected to attend FREE mediation at Fair Trading NSW in March 
2020, refused to respond to numerous attempts to reason with them, NCAT case 20/33352 was opened. The submitted files 
include firm evidence of Solicitor Adrian Mueller's past actions.

Letter of demand was sent to number of members of the committee and Waratah Strata Management to refute or confirm 
allegations with evidence. 

You are requested to send your email/letter to O'Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors and confirm the following as well:

a) That you have been approved to represent SP52948 strata committee and Waratah Strata Management at legally 
convened general meeting before today.

b) That owners and Lot 158 have been provided with signed Standard Costs Agreement at any time since 5 September 2019, 
when you were asked to create so-called Deed before AGM 2019 and owners corporation approval.

We thank you for your co-operation and support for NCAT case with full disclosure.

Solicitor never responded.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-agenda-AGM-2020-sent-on-30Sep2020.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “20201021-Re_Defamation Concerns Notice (JSM 34813)-1252.pdf”.

85) In the second email on 21 October 2020, Mr. LOT 158 made the repeated request to Solicitor Adrian Mueller to respond to 
O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitor’s letter dated 24 April 2020:

YOU ARE REQUESTED to PROVIDE RESPONSE to all demands dated 24 April 2020, as per attachment.

The response with evidence must arrive by tomorrow before AGM 2020.

Solicitor never responded.

Unredacted evidence in document “20201021-IMMEDIATE RESPONSE REQUESTED for Lot 158 demands dated 24Apr2020-
1254.pdf”.

86) Solicitor Adrian Mueller, failed to comply with NCAT Directions Hearing two times in case SC 20/33352. 

87) Mr. LOT 158, two days before the NCAT Hearing, on 9 February 2021, sent email to members of the committee pleading with 
them to offer assistance to NCAT. The title of the email was:

“SUMMARY: NCAT SC 20/33352 Requests assisting Trubunal ignored so far – 9Feb202”

In it, it said, amongst the others:

We are two days away from NCAT Hearing. Every attempt to reason with alleged representatives (emphasis is on FINANCIAL 
OWNERS) of SP52948 were rejected.



Apart from official requests that are well defined and backed up by evidence, it is obvious that NCAT will also be asked to 
consider compulsory strata manager, as they can make such decision without formal request by any party. One of irrefutable 
legal cases (we have more) in favor of replacing current strata manager is:

Hoare and Ors v The Owners-Strata Plan No 73905 [2018] NSWCATCD 45

200 In respect of s 237 (3) (a) of the SSMA 2015, the Appeal Panel of the Tribunal stated in Bischoff v Sahade [2015] 
NSWCATAP 135 (‘Bischoff’) at [22]:

Circumstances in which the management structure may not be functioning or functioning satisfactorily include where the 
relevant level of management:

(1) does not perform a required function, for example to properly maintain the common property;
(2) exercises a power or makes a decision for an improper purpose, for example conferring a benefit upon a particular Lot 
owner or group of Lot owners in a manner not authorised by the SSMA;
(3) fails to exercise a power or make a decision to prevent a contravention by Lot owners and occupiers of their obligations 
under the SSMA, including the Lot owners and occupiers obligation to comply with the by-laws; and
(4) raises levies and takes or defends legal action on behalf of the owners corporation in circumstances where such action is 
unnecessary or not in the interests of the owners Corporation or the Lot owners as a whole

Of course, if Solicitor Adrian Mueller (or his representative) attempts to show up at the Hearing, his immediate dismissal 
will be requested as the first point of "discussion" and referral to Police and Office of Legal Services Commissioner 
suggested.

No reply was received.

88) At NCAT Hearing on 11 February 2021, Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to present evidence of his signed Standard Costs 
Agreement, in spite of Mr. LOT 158’s attempts to raise concerns about his retainer.  Solicitor Adrian Mueller stayed silent and did
not assist the Tribunal to refute Mr. LOT 158’s statements in any form.

89) First 34-odd minutes of the Hearing were wasted on the Tribunal member trying to call Waratah Strata Management (two times), 
listening to Mr. LOT 158’s statements about illegal representation of Solicitor Adrian Mueller, and then the Tribunal member 
complaining to Solicitor Mueller that he did not have any contact phone details for the committee members.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller wasted the court time and Mr. LOT 158’s time:

• Tribunal called Mr. LOT 158 on their mobile at 09:26 hours.

• Only at 09:59 hours the Tribunal formally allowed Solicitor Adrian Mueller to represent the Respondent, without offering 
any evidence to allow Mr. LOT 158 to question it.

• When asked if all six committee members were still the Respondents in case SC 20/33352, Solicitor Adrian Mueller replied 
affirmatively. Tribunal repeated that question two times. 

The response from Solicitor Adrian Mueller was false as he had knowledge that one of the committee members (Mr. Moses 
Levitt) resigned, as reported in Minutes of committee meeting on 11 November 2020 (Lot 158 did not receive notice of 
minutes of the meeting, so Mr. LOT 158 was prevented from having knowledge of it):

 

• Whole Hearing process ended at 11:25 hours.

90) Tribunal member then proceeded to ask Solicitor Adrian Mueller if he wished to call the committee members himself. Solicitor 
responded that it was not necessary.

91) Tribunal member then offered to Solicitor Adrian Mueller an option to adjourn the Hearing, which Solicitor declined and wished 
to proceed.

Tribunal member did not warn Mr. LOT 158 that Solicitor Adrian Mueller would request NCAT to ignore Lot 158 due to 
committee members’ absence from the Hearing.



92) Extract from Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s invoice 101676 dated 11 December 2020 that directly conflicts with the Tribunal 
statement that they did not have contact details for the committee members, or shows that Solicitor Adrian Mueller never 
intended to allow committee members to attend the Hearing:

 

93) NCAT and Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to inform Lot 158 that they had knowledge of who would attend the     
Hearing since December 2020.

94) Putting aside old attempts to talk with committee members, strata managers, and Solicitor Adrian Mueller, here are some of more 
recent attempts and pleas to reason with the Respondent:

• Email titled "Undisclosed Details of CHU Insurance Reimbursements Waratah Strata Management Contract details and 
Defamation of Lot 158 through false statements at EC meeting on 16 March 2017" 

• Three document searches in Waratah Strata Management office (on 13 June 2017, 31 May 2019, and 20 September 2019), 
where access to many files was prevented by Waratah Strata Management

• Email titled "NSW Fair Trading - Reference Numbers 9363613 and 9761719 - Waratah Strata Management refuses to answer
if security guards have valid licence and police checks for last two years - 16Sep2019" 

• Email from O'Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors' to Solicitor Adrian Mueller on 30 October 2020, which included request to 
access files that Lot 158 paid for but did not get at three document searches in Waratah Strata Management office 

• Letter from Solicitor Adrian Mueller on 15 November 2020 rejecting all offers to mediate and refusing access to strata files.

• Attempt to mediate without costs at NSW Fair Trading in case 00351498 rejected in March 2020 

• Motions for Annual General Meeting 2017, 2018, 2019, and 2020, which the Respondent failed to include in agenda for 
meetings and disallowed owners to vote 

• Email titled "CHU Insurance claim and defamation of Lot 158 on 25 March 2017" 

• Email titled "WITHOUT PREJUDICE Request to stop wasting strata funds on legal expenses that cannot succeed on 18 June
2019" 

• Email titled "Request to disclose information if EC members were notified about two events for loss of SP52948 strata files 
in a timely manner on 11Aug2019" 

• Email titled "INTERIM UPDATE: Request to provide information about alleged data breach at Waratah Strata Management 
and loss of SP52948 strata files on 17Feb2020" 

• Email titled "Fwd: FOR OFFICIAL RECORDS: Too many attempts to communicate and reason with Lot 88" sent to 
Secretary of the committee on 25 March 2020 

• Email titled "SUMMARY: Waratah Strata Management refusal to notify owners about critical issues including Fair Trading 
Mediation and expired contract with Waratah Strata Management - 25Mar2020" 

• Email titled "WITHOUT PREJUDICE stop wasting strata funds on legal expenses that cannot succeed on 28 March 2020" 

• O'Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors' request to SP52948 to provide responses and detailed list of strata files to be provided to 
Lot 158 on 24 April 2020 

• Email titled "FOLLOW UP ACTIONS Fraud Report and Police Event E65804633 on 29 April 2020" 

• Email titled "REQUEST Waratah Strata Management website missing notice and minutes of EC meeting dated 9Jul2012 on 
22 July 2020" 

• Email titled "CONFIDENTIAL OFFER SP52948 Your actions today and tomorrow on 27 and 29 July 2020" with offer to 
avoid legal costs and Tribunal case 

• Email titled "Fwd: CONFIDENTIAL OFFER: SP52948 Your actions today and tomorrow" about expired offer to strata 
manager and committee members on 29 July 2020

• Email titled "OFFICIAL REQUEST on 12 August 2020 to immediately return private property undelivered by Solicitor 
Adrian Mueller and Respondent since May 2012" 



• Email titled "Failed notifications to SP52948 owners" on 18 September 2020 

• Email titled "NCAT SC 20/33352 and Lot 158 Motions for AGM 2020" including six quotes for strata and building 
management contracts on 25 September 2020 (which were ignored by the Respondent and owners not allowed to vote or 
consider them) 

• Email titled "URGENT CONFIRMATION FOR NCAT SC 20/33352 required on 27 September 2020 that Waratah Strata 
Management legally represented Respondent at Directions Hearing" 

• Lot 158 Letters of Demand to 23 Respondents (current and previous members of the committee and strata managers) 
pleading with them to refute or confirm Lot 158 evidence and statements and help NCAT in SC 20/33352 sent in October 
2020 

• Email to Solicitor Adrian Mueller on 21 October 2020 to provide immediate response to O'Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors 
for Lot 158 demands dated 24 April 2020 and provide evidence of his retainer to represent the Respondent 

• Email titled "NCAT SC 20/33352 Requests assisting Tribunal ignored so far on 9 February 2021" 

• Email titled "SUMMARY - SP52948 FAILURE TO MAINTAIN COMMON PROPERTY Lot 158 long-term problems as of 
12May2021" 

95) Mr. LOT 158 sent request to ex-committee member Mr. Moses Levitt to return private property (folder with SC 20/33352) in 
email dated 3 June 2021. The Subject line of the email was:

“REQUEST TO RETURN PRIVATE PROPERTY: Folder delivered for Moses Levitt in SC 20/33352”

The email said:

Based on fact that YOU were not part of proceedings in NCAT 20/33352 since your resignation in early November 2020, 
and failed to notify Tribunal at Hearing in February 2021, or notify the Tribunal in alleged cost submission in May 2021, 
please return the folder with all Lot 158 files.

The folder is private property to which you do not have rights to keep or use.

Reply was never received.



96) After Tribunal made its decision, deliberately ignoring the evidence of Lot 158 as coerced by Solicitor Adrian Mueller for the
second time, Solicitor Adrian Mueller initiated costs recovery on 12 July 2021, seeking payment in amount of $15,015.00 
(GST exclusive), which allegedly represented 75% of his actual legal costs.

              

              Unredacted evidence in document “Letter to Mrs S P LOT 158 and Mr D LOT 158-17Jul2021.pdf”



97) Mr. LOT 158 responded to Mr. Mueller on 19 July 2021 in email with Subject line:

       “20210719-FIRST RESPONSE FOR COSTS TO SOLICITOR ADRIAN MUELLER NCAT File No. SC 20_33352 (JSM    
       37289)-1609”

       Solicitor Adrian Mueller and NCAT received these requests:

       Good morning Solicitor Mueller,
       CC: NCAT

       BCC: Five members of the executive committee and two strata managers at Waratah Strata Management

       Many thanks for the generous letter and offer to settle alleged costs incurred by you in NCAT case SC 20/33352.

       The Applicant, as always, welcomes opportunity to discuss and settle the costs once their validity is established.

       The Applicant's three options for costs have been prepared and they will be submitted once some details are clarified.

       To avoid any unnecessary expense, the Respondent is requested to provide the following UNREDACTED evidence in electronic    

       form (Covid-19 restrictions justify it):

1. Copy of signed Standard Costs Agreement for engagement in NCAT 20/33352. 
2. Copy of email or proof of letter that Solicitor Adrian Mueller received a formal authorization to represent owners 

corporation in NCAT 20/33352. Legally, it would have to be done straight after the general meeting on 22 October 
2020 so that the Respondent prepared their evidence for complying with Directions Hearing orders dated 25 
September 2020.

3. Copy of AUDITED detailed income and expenditure report for period 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020. 
Economos signed the audited accounts on 3 November 2020, 12 days after the Annual General Meeting, in non-
compliance with STRATA SCHEMES MANAGEMENT ACT 2015 – SECT 95 and STRATA SCHEMES 
MANAGEMENT REGULATION 2016 – REG 21). 

4. Copy of detailed income and expenditure statement for period 1 September 2020 to 19 July 2021 (today), which 
include proofs of payments to Solicitor Adrian Mueller. 

5. Copies of emails related to SUU insurance claim listed in Solicitor's invoice 103514 dated 6 May 2021 (as per 
attachment "Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-extract-from-invoice-103514.png"). SUU declined to quote insurance 
renewal in 2012 due to Solicitor Adrian Mueller's high risks (refer to attachments).

6. Copies of emails related to NCAT communications listed in Solicitor's invoice 103514 dated 6 May 2021 (as per 
attachment "Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-extract-from-invoice-102134.png").

       It is in interest of the Respondent to be prompt and provide requested files (as per attachments and the Respondent's commitment 

       to owners corporation in Minutes of committee meeting on 7 May 2020).

       The Applicant is eagerly awaiting your response, which must be shared with NCAT.

        Unredacted evidence in document “20210719-FIRST RESPONSE FOR COSTS TO SOLICITOR ADRIAN MUELLER NCAT  
        File No. SC 20_33352 (JSM 37289)-1609.pdf”.

        No reply or even an attempt to communicate was received from Solicitor Adrian Mueller, committee members, and strata 
        managers, in July, August, September, October, November, and December 2021, and January 2022 (six and a half moths).

98) On 25 July 2021, Mr. LOT 158 sent email to NCAT and committee members, requesting access to copies of audit files for 
Directions Hearing and Hearing in case SC 20/33352.

        The email said:

       Based on Solicitor Adrian Mueller's invoices in file CS 20/33352 (attachments "Extract-fro-alleged-costs-incurred-by-Solicitor- 
       Adrian-Mueller-SC-20-33352.pdf"), it appears there was some correspondence between himself and NCAT that the Applicant was
       not provided with and did not have access to before or at the Hearing on 11 February 2021. 

      Applicant herewith request to obtain access to: 

      a) Audio copy of Directions Hearing on 25 September 2020. 

     b) Audio copy of Hearing on 11 February 2021. 

     c) All unredacted files that the Respondent and Solicitor Adrian Mueller shared with NCAT in file SC 20/33352. 



     Of special importance is Solicitor's email to NCAT on 11 December 2020 providing contact details for telephone hearing, and   
     details of Solicitor's attending NCAT on telephone to discuss file inspection on 14 December 2020. 

     Note that Solicitor Adrian Mueller coerced CTTT in file SCS 12/33352 into making wrong decision at Hearing on 18 October 
     2012, by stating that Lot 3 could not be part of the proceedings because they were "absent" (similar effort as in SC 20/33352). The
     attachments contain details of it. Solicitor Adrian Mueller was warned about it on 19 October 2012 in email with subject 
     "FACSIMILES SENT TO CTTT: SCS 12/32675 12/50450 and 12/50460 on 19 October 2012". He never replied or corrected his 
     statements to CTTT. Applicant has paid for and has all audio copies of all three Hearings in SCS 12/33352. Solicitor's actions and 
     consequences of his activities in SCS 12/32675 and SCS 12/5060, and direct responsibility in writing Statutory Declaration for 
     strata manager on 19 April 2013 will be dealt with separately. 

    Please provide information how to pay for these services and receive the media and files listed in a) to c) above. 

    Regards, 

    PS. Definition of lie: 

    The most widely accepted definition of lying is the following: “A lie is a statement made by one who does not believe it with the 
    intention that someone else shall be led to believe it” (Isenberg 1973, 248) (cf. “[lying is] making a statement believed to be false, 
    with the intention of getting another to accept it as true” (Primoratz 1984, 54n2)). This definition does not specify the addressee, 
    however. It may be restated as follows: 

    To lie = to make a believed-false statement to another person with the intention that the other person believe that statement to be 
    true. 

    This is the traditional definition of lying. According to it, there are at least four necessary conditions for lying. First, lying requires 
    that a person makes a statement (statement condition). Second, lying requires that the person believes the statement to be false; 
    that is, lying requires that the statement be untruthful (untruthfulness condition). Third, lying requires that the untruthful statement 
    be made to another person (addressee condition). Fourth, lying requires that the person intends that that other person believe the 
    untruthful statement to be true (intention to deceive the addressee condition). 

    Cambridge Dictionary: To say or write something that is not true in order to deceive someone. 
    Merriam-Webster: Marked by or containing untrue statements. 
    Dictionary: Telling or containing lies; deliberately untruthful; deceitful; false. 

    No reply was received.

99) On 30 August 2021, Mr. LOT 158 initiated another request to NCAT and committee members. The email said:

    Lack of responses from the Respondent and NCAT directly endanger safety, well-being, and value of property of the 
    Applicant, along with many other owners in SP52948.

    Due to size of some of the attachments, the escalation of our request is sent in several parts today.

    We now wish to escalate, with high priority, the request dated 25 July 2021 (audio copy of Directions Hearing on 25 September 

    2020, audio copy of Hearing on 11 February 2021, and all unredacted files that the Respondent and Solicitor Adrian Mueller 

    shared with NCAT in file SC 20/33352) under reasonable suspicion that the Respondent failed to act with duty of care and are, 

    directly or indirectly, involved in threats and discrimination against the Respondent, are assessory and parties to crime: false 

    statements to District Court, CTTT, Fair Trading NSW, Police, and Office of Legal Services Commissioner, financial 

    mismanagement, fraudulent insurance claims, allowing significant financial losses to SP52948 owners corporation and the 

    Respondent.

    False statements are a very serious offense in their own right. Deliberate lying in a Statutory Declaration is punishable by up to 

    five years in prison, according to the NSW Oaths Act. Former judge Marcus Einfeld served two years in prison for knowingly 

    making a false statement under oath and for attempting to pervert the course of justice. The case stemmed from the improbable 

    catalyst of a false statutory declaration over a $77.00 speeding fine.



    NSW courts are empowered by the provisions of section 99 of the CPA to disallow costs to a party, or direct a practitioner to pay 

    costs, if it appears to the court that costs have been incurred by the serious neglect, serious incompetence or serious misconduct of 

    the practitioner, or improperly, or without reasonable cause, in circumstances for which a legal practitioner is responsible. This 

    wide power to award costs personally against legal practitioners is in accordance with the overriding purpose as set forth in 

    sections 56–60 of the CPA, and which requires the parties and their representatives to assist the court to further the just, quick and 

    cheap resolution of the real issues in the proceedings: Furlong v Wise & Young Pty Ltd [2016] NSWSC 647, Stevenson J Lemoto at 

    [92] and Ideal Waterproofing Pty Ltd v Buildcorp Australia Pty Ltd [2006] NSWSC 155.

    In the first email today, the following attachments are submitted:

a) Solicitor Adrian Mueller and the Respondent directly responsible or had fully knowledge and took no action to prevent 
repeated threats, intimidation, harassment, and even a death warning to the Respondent. Respondent failed to inform NCAT 
about it and, by not attending the Hearing, coerced the Tribunal to ignore the Applicant's evidence:

SP52948-serious-threats-to-Lot-158-due-to-strata-mismanagement-investigations-Aug2021.pdf

b) Submission to Office of the Hon. Anthony Roberts, Minister for Fair Trading, reporting death threat and serious concerns 
of misconduct in CTTT files SCS 102/32675 and SCS 12/50460 on 22 March 2013. Respondent failed to inform NCAT about 
it and, by not attending the Hearing, coerced the Tribunal to ignore the Applicant's evidence:

NSW-Minister-reference-FTMIN13-561-promise-to-investigate-death-threat-and-other-issues-in-CATT-cases-12-50460-and-
12-32675-22Mar2013.pdf

    No response was received.

100) On 27 October 2021, Mr. LOT 158 made another attempt to reason with Waratah Strata Management and committee members 
and requested owners corporation response to O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitor demands dated 24 April 2020, which owners 
corporation committed to reply to on 7 May 2020. The email had Subject line:

    “REQUEST - SP52948 commitment to respond to Lot 158 demands as per Minutes of meeting on 7May2020”

    The email stated:

    Over the years, the following FULLY PAID Lot 158 document searches failed to gain access to strata files, in spite of 
    strata laws and regulations:

• 16Nov2011 $154.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 7Nov2012 $132.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 28Feb2012 $72.00 Document search at CTTT 
• 7Mar2013 $33.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 11Mar2013 $172.80 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 11Sep2013 $45.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 15Oct2013 $45.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 18Oct2013 $32.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 16Feb2016 $164.80 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 16Feb2016 $3.40 Document search at BCS Strata Management 
• 15Jun2017 $61.05 Document search at Waratah Strata Management 
• 13Jun2019 $212.85 Document search at Waratah Strata Management 
• 13Jun2019 $2.75 Document search at Waratah Strata Management 
• 26Sep2019 $234.30 Document search at Waratah Strata Management 
• 29Mar2020 $2,200.00 O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors demand for strata files sent to Waratah Strata 

Management 
• 27Jul2020 Request to committee members 
• 31Jul2021 Request to committee members 
• 21Oct2020 Request to Solicitor Adrian Mueller 
• 19Jul2021 Request to Solicitor Adrian Mueller 

    Immediate response now, please.

    No reply was received.



101) On 14 November 2021, committee members and Waratah Strata Management were warned that approving minutes of general 
meetings in 2020 and 2019 effectively voted against previous general meetings and made all engagement by Solicitor Adrian Mueller 
void and invalid due to standard legal principle of ratification:

    The ratification has a retrospective effect, and binds the principal from its date, and not only from the time of the ratification, for the
    ratification is equivalent to an original authority, according to the maxim, that omnis ratihabitio mandate aeguiparatur (ratification 
    is equivalent to express command).

    As a general rule, the principal has the right to elect whether he will adopt the unauthorized act or not. But having once ratified the 
    act, upon a full knowledge of all the material circumstances, the ratification cannot be revoked or recalled, and the principal 
    becomes bound as if he had originally authorized the act.

    The ratification must be voluntary, deliberate, and intelligent, and the party must know that without it, he would not be bound.

    Unredacted evidence in document "20211114-SUMMARY SP52948 validity of nominations for committee with example from 
    AGM 2017-1672.pdf".

    Based on the fact that Solicitor Adrian Mueller personally prevented Lot 158 Motions for ratification of various 
    events at AGM 2017, 2018, 2019, and 2020, his engagement and costs become illegal.

    Unredacted evidence in document "20210202-NOTIFICATION FOR ALL OWNERS_ SP52948 NCAT case 20_33352 - NCAT 
    asked that Solicitor Adrian Mueller be struck out of the proceedings-35713-2.pdf"

    Unredacted evidence in document "SP52948-Motions-by-Lot-158-ratifications-failed-to-approve-past-events-at-AGM-2017.pdf"

    Unredacted evidence in document "SP52948-Motions-by-Lot-158-ratifications-failed-to-approve-past-events-at-AGM-2018.pdf"

    Unredacted evidence in document "SP52948-Motions-by-Lot-158-ratifications-failed-to-approve-past-events-at-AGM-2019.pdf"

    Unredacted evidence in document "SP52948-Motions-by-Lot-158-ratifications-failed-to-approve-past-events-at-AGM-2020.pdf"

102) On 2 February 2022, another attempt by Mr. LOT 158 was made in email to NCAT and committee members.

    The email stated:

    a) Solicitor Adrian Mueller and SP52948 failed to respond to repeated attempts to deal with alleged costs in NCAT  case    
    20/33352.

    The email sent to them on 19 July 2021 has been ignored by them.

    b) Another attempt to communicate with SP52948 was on 31 August 2021. No response was received.

    c) Third attempt to communicate with SP52948 was on 27 October 2021. No response was received.

    d) Solicitor Adrian Mueller and SP52948 have not responded to O'Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors dated 24 April 2020 

    (attachment "LOT 158Letter24April.pdf"). It is coming close to two years that the request is outstanding.

    In addition to those questions, Lot 158 seeks all correspondence from/to Solicitor Adrian Mueller for the last seven 

    years in regards to his effort to threaten us with alleged defamation cases, which never succeeded but caused significant costs. The 

    defence of qualified privilege cannot be successful if it can be proved by the plaintiff that the defamation was motivated by malice, 

    which can easily be proven.

    Recent case confirmed it:

    Counsel for the state Alan Sefton argued the messages between Mr McGowan and Mr Quigley should not be disclosed under legal 

    privilege, but Justice Michael Lee said their texts were mainly about political strategy.

    “It’s not exactly the sort of communication, which one would ordinarily characterise as the provision of legal advice,” he said.

    The premier and Mr Quigley subsequently discussed Mr Palmer’s arbitration over a stalled mining project.

    “I just don’t think I can reach a level of satisfaction that that communication was made for the dominant purpose of obtaining or 

    providing legal advice,” Justice Lee said.



    e) In the meantime, since we have absolute proofs that Solicitor Adrian Mueller lied and prevented CTTT/NCAT/District 

    Court/Police/Office of Legal Services Commissioner in their investigations in cases SCS 12/32675, 12/50460, and SC 20/33352 

    whilst not legally approved to represent owners corporation, we opened case CAS005901 with Office of Legal Services 

    Commissioner and notified to Fair Trading NSW in reference number 10793260.

    Stalking, attempts to intimidate, and harassment of Lot 158 continued (more comprehensive details of attempts to 

    intimidate, threat, stalk, harass, expose to ridicule, and discriminate against Lot 158 (including anonymous death 

    threats in 2012 and 2013) with direct knowledge of strata agencies, Solicitor Adrian Mueller, and committee members (in most 

    cases, they refused CCTV access for Police investigations, or claimed the recordings were overwritten) were provided to NCAT and

    OLSC.

    This event will have to be thoroughly investigated, in spite of all attempts to ignore it in the past:

    Timeline of events for anonymous death threat in 2013:

• Throughout February 2013, Solicitor Adrian Mueller was actively engaged in preventing access to strata 
documents, protecting own interests, exhibiting contempt of court (CTTT) in deliberate exercise with intent to 
interfere with the administration of justice 

• On 24 February 2013 at 19:45 hours, Lot 158 sent email to strata manager Peter Bone with the subject line 
"ADVANCED NOTICE: Peter Bone will be issued with CTTT summons to produce documents on 25 February 
2013" 

• Lot 158 submitted summonses on 25 February 2013 to CTTT, with updated version on 27 February 2013 (CTTT 
requested the changes to the document) 

• Day after notice of issue of summonses to strata manager Peter Bone, there was an anonymous phone call to Lot 
158 on 26 February 2013 (male voice) with clear instruction to stop CTTT cases or risk own life, with suggestion to
disappear from complex. Less threatening anonymous phone call also occurred in 2012, which we ignored as prank.

• Threat "urging" Lot 158 to disappear from complex in an anonymous letterbox notice was reported to Police (and 
ignored by them) in another Event E45617744 on 6 October 2011 

• Evidence that Solicitor Adrian Mueller knew about summonses for strata manager Peter Bone and was actively 
involved on 26 February 2013 exist in Solicitor's invoices 

• Waratah Strata Management and committee members stayed silent about attacks against Lot 158, including 
discrimination on religious basis (owners of Lot 147 Mr. and Mrs. Levitt called Lot 158 "non-believers" on number 
of occasions), on 17 May 2017

• 12 Police events for stalking, harassment, intimidation, and threats against Lot 158 by few maintenance staff, few 
committee members, and some tenants in the complex 

• 8 request to obtain access to CCTV recordings for stalking, harassment, intimidation, and threats against Lot 158 
were silently ignored by Waratah Strata Management, committee members, and maintenance staff (even Police did 
not get access to them)

    We offer assistance to bring to justice the Respondent and Solicitor Adrian Mueller for repeated efforts to pervert course of 

     justice, abuse court processes, and cause significant costs.

    f) CHU Insurance rejected claim for legal costs of Solicitor Adrian Mueller in first quarter of 2021, which was confirmed in 

    agenda for Annual General Meeting in October 2021.

    g) Financial status of SP52948 is having serious problems and owners are not notified about it. Some of previous and very recent 

    issues: 

• On 4 July 2012, owners corporation had no funds to pay $14,056.90 which was approved by strata manager Paul 
Banoob for creditor code 69633, so BCS Strata Management secretly ordered injection of $50,000.00 from an MBL 
account (several days later, at alleged committee meeting in Lot 181 unit, who was unfinancial at the time, approved 



engagement of Solicitor Adrian Mueller without owners corporation knowledge - that meeting was later found out to be 
completely illegal and to this day agenda and minutes of the meeting do not exist in strata files).

• On 1 August 2012, strata manager secretly changed the insurance policy for the complex and then made four  claims for
“legal costs”:

        $367.64 on 31 August 2012
        $12,714.65 on 7 December 2012
        $1,320.00 on 26 April 2013
        $10.517.02 on 4 June 2013

        The claims were for “legal defence of Lot 3” in CTTT case that did not exist in regards to this owner. 

        Four years later, in March 2017, CHU Insurance forced owners corporation to repay $8,800.00.

       They should have claimed the full amount, but they did not have all evidence of the case, which we do now.

• On 21 August 2014 Pica Group (parent company of BCS Strata Management) provided secret cash advance to 
SP52948 in amount of $20,745.50 and issued an invoice month later on 22 September 2014. That information was 
withheld from owners who had no knowledge of financial problems. SP52948 secretly repaid $20,745.50 six months
later on 25 March 2015, without notifying owners corporation. BCS Strata Management failed to include   Lot 158 
Motion for secret cash advance from Pica Group at AGM 2016 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 17 October 2019, Admin Fund had negative balance of $131,852.25 on the day of 
general meeting. Trying to prevent owners of Lot 158 to raise questions about finance and maintenance, Waratah 
Strata Management and committee members "approved" $150,000.00 to be spent on defamation case against Lot 
158 (which failed to achieve their goal), without giving owners information that Waratah Strata Management and 
committee members already engaged Solicitor Adrian Mueller who had prepared 13-page document before the 
AGM and tried to force Lot 158 into signing preposterous Deed. In financial statements for FY 2020, in spite of 
extensive legal involvement, Waratah Strata Management logged only $2,940.00 for legal costs 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 31 October 2021, Admin Fund had negative balance of $120,210.65 (one day before 
next collection of levies on 1 November 2021). This negative balance was extremely opposite from what Waratah 
Strata Management listed just three days earlier, on the day of general meeting on 28 October 2021 without 
disclosure to owners, Admin Fund has alleged balance of $1,019.14 (three days before next collection of levies on 1 
November 2021) 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 29 January 2021, Admin Fund negative balance of $18,859.76 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 25 April 2021, Admin Fund negative balance of $24,560.03 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 31 July 2021, Admin Fund negative balance of $22,323.34 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 8 December 2021, Admin Fund holding just $1,263.46 (close to two months before next 
collection of levies is due on 1 February 2022) 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 24 December 2021, Admin Fund has negative balance of $49,429.69 (more than one 
month before next collection of levies is due on 1 February 2022) 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 7 January 2022, Admin Fund has negative balance of $53,036.39 (one month before 
next collection of levies is due on 1 February 2022) 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 19 January 2022, Admin Fund has negative balance of $112,530.07 (11 days before 
next collection of levies is due on 1 February 2022) 

• SP52948 Balance Status on 30 January 2022, Admin Fund has negative balance of $116,068.14 (2 days before next 
collection of levies is due on 1 February 2022) 

• SP52948 Minutes of committee meeting on 23 September 2021 - shortage of $1,515,541.00 in Capital Works Fund 
against the forecast in April 2017 that was allegedly approved without general meeting. Annual general meeting 
was held on 28 October 2021, and no owner received email or printed copy of rushed updates to Capital Works 
Fund which simply delayed all major repairs, effectively made balance looked artificially positive. Agenda for AGM
2021 was dispatched on 7 October 2021 and BIV's updated Capital Works Fund plan was created a day earlier but 
not presented to owners corporation to approve or vote at general meeting on 28 October 2021. 

h) Due to lack of funds, lot of repairs are are delayed, including above mentioned 10-Year Capital Works Fund.



For Lot 158, smoke alarms were suddenly replaced only on 2 October 2021, many years after they had expired and had been
deemed faulty in annual fire safety assessments.

At present, repair of water leaks on ceiling near light fitting in Lot 158 is still outstanding, presenting serious fire and OH&S
risks.

Attachment "SP52948-extract-from-EC-meeting-ignoring-Lot-158-repeated-complaints-about-fire-safety-and-other-
maintenance-29Apr2021.png" shows extract from committee meeting on 29 April 2021 where Lot 158 concerns about safety 
are ignored.

Attachment "SP52948-waratahstrata.com.au-website-Maintenance-Open-Work-Orders-page-1-30Jan2022.png" taken from 
Waratah website on 30 January 2022 confirms number of outstanding repairs for more than a year (some even several years 
old).

i) SP52948 was reminded about costs Lot 158 incurred for document searches where BCS Strata Management and as of 
2017 Waratah Strata Management failed to provide access to many documents:

16Nov2011 $154.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management

7Nov2012 $132.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management

28Feb2012 $72.00 Document search at CTTT

7Mar2013 $33.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management

11Mar2013 $172.80 Document search at BCS Strata Management

11Sep2013 $45.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management

15Oct2013 $45.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management

18Oct2013 $32.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management

16Feb2016 $164.80 Document search at BCS Strata Management

16Feb2016 $3.40 Document search at BCS Strata Management

15Jun2017 $61.05 Document search at Waratah Strata Management

13Jun2019 $212.85 Document search at Waratah Strata Management

13Jun2019 $2.75 Document search at Waratah Strata Management

26Sep2019 $234.30 Document search at Waratah Strata Management

29Mar2020 $2,200.00 O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors demand for strata files sent to Waratah Strata Management

27Jul2020 Request to committee members

31Jul2021 Request to committee members

21Oct2020 Request to Solicitor Adrian Mueller 

19Jul2021 Request to Solicitor Adrian Mueller

27Oct2021 Request to committee members and Waratah Strata Management

103) First reply to Lot 158 was threat by Solicitor Adrian Mueller dated 7 February 2022, still without any evidence of signed 
Standard Costs Agreement or evidence of his work. In it, Solicitor Adrian Mueller submitted legal costs in amount of $25,158.14.



Narrative 3 (Investigators and owners not informed about troubles with common funds)

104) On 21 August 2014 Pica Group (parent company of BCS Strata Management) provided secret cash advance to SP52948 in 
amount of $20,745.50 and issued an invoice month later on 22 September 2014. That information was withheld from owners who had
no knowledge of financial problems. SP52948 secretly repaid $20,745.50 six months later on 25 March 2015, without notifying 
owners corporation. BCS Strata Management failed to include Lot 158 Motion for secret cash advance from Pica Group at AGM 
2016.

105) SP52948 Balance Status on 17 October 2019, Admin Fund had negative balance of $131,852.25 on the day of general meeting. 
Trying to prevent owners of Lot 158 to raise questions about finance and maintenance, Waratah Strata Management and committee 
members "approved" $150,000.00 to be spent on defamation case against Lot 158 (which failed to achieve their goal), without giving 
owners information that Waratah Strata Management and committee members already engaged Solicitor Adrian Mueller who had 
prepared 13-page document before the AGM and tried to force Lot 158 into signing preposterous Deed. In financial statements for FY
2020, in spite of extensive legal involvement, Waratah Strata Management logged only $2,940.00 for legal costs.

106) SP52948 Balance Status on 31 October 2021, Admin Fund had negative balance of $120,210.65 (one day before next collection 
of levies on 1 November 2021). This negative balance was extremely opposite from what Waratah Strata Management listed just three
days earlier, on the day of general meeting on 28 October 2021 without disclosure to owners, Admin Fund has alleged balance of 
$1,019.14 (three days before next collection of levies on 1 November 2021).

107) SP52948 Balance Status on 29 January 2021, Admin Fund negative balance of $18,859.76.

108) Due to vigilant actions by Mr. LOT 158, owners corporation SP52948 was prevented to make insurance claims for alleged legal 
costs for Solicitor Adrian Mueller. 

Minutes of committee meeting on 4 February 2021, stated the following:

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-minutes-EC-meeting-4Feb2021.pdf”

109) SUU Insurance company rejected claim by the owners corporation (later found that it was for Lot 190 window frame blown by 
strong wind and insurance company rejected the claim due to proven failures to maintain common property):



110) Solicitor Adrian Mueller was well aware of rejected insurance claim, as per his own invoice related to NCAT communications 
listed in Solicitor's invoice 103514 dated 6 May 2021 (document "Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-extract-from-invoice-102134.png").

Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to inform NCAT about it at Hearing on 11 February 2021. 

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-agenda-for-AGM-2021-7Oct2021.pdf”.

111) SP52948 Balance Status on 25 April 2021, Admin Fund negative balance of $24,560.03.

112) SP52948 Balance Status on 31 July 2021, Admin Fund negative balance of $22,323.34.

113) SP52948 Balance Status on 8 December 2021, Admin Fund holding just $1,263.46 (close to two months before next collection 
of levies is due on 1 February 2022).

114) SP52948 Balance Status on 24 December 2021, Admin Fund has negative balance of $49,429.69 (more than one month before 
next collection of levies is due on 1 February 2022). 

115) SP52948 Balance Status on 7 January 2022, Admin Fund has negative balance of $53,036.39 (one month before next collection 
of levies is due on 1 February 2022).

116) SP52948 Balance Status on 19 January 2022, Admin Fund has negative balance of $112,530.07 (11 days before next collection 
of levies is due on 1 February 2022).

117) SP52948 Balance Status on 30 January 2022, Admin Fund has negative balance of $116,068.14 (2 days before next collection of 
levies is due on 1 February 2022). 

SP52948 Balance Status on 27 February 2022, Admin Fund has balance of only $21,931.68 (27 days after collection of levies due on 
1 February 2022) .

118) SP52948 Minutes of committee meeting on 23 September 2021 - shortage of $1,515,541.00 in Capital Works Fund against the 
forecast in April 2017 that was allegedly approved without general meeting. Annual general meeting was held on 28 October 2021, 
and no owner received email or printed copy of rushed updates to Capital Works Fund which simply delayed all major repairs, 
effectively made balance looked artificially positive. Agenda for AGM 2021 was dispatched on 7 October 2021 and BIV's updated 
Capital Works Fund plan was created a day earlier but not presented to owners corporation to approve or vote at general meeting on 
28 October 2021.

 



Narrative 4 - Legal expenses in generic financial documents - not disclosed to owners by committee 
members and Waratah Strata Management, keeping owners completely uninformed

119) Without giving owners information that Waratah Strata Management and committee members already engaged Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller who had prepared 13-page document before the AGM and tried to force Lot 158 into signing preposterous Deed. In financial 
statements for FY 2020, in spite of extensive legal involvement by Solicitor Adrian Mueller and undisclosed barrister, Waratah Strata 
Management logged only $2,940.00 for legal costs.

In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2019 to 31/08/2020 (end of financial year), the 
following total amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$2,940.00

120) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2020 to 25/102020, the following total amount
for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$2,475.00

121) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2020 to 18/11/2020, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$4,232.25

122) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2020 to 18/12/2020, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$12,012.25

123) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2020 to 26/02/2021, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$14,952.90

124) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2020 to 31/07/2021, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$25,482.08

125) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2020 to 27/08/2021, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$25,582.08

126) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2020 to 31/08/2021 (end of financial year), the
following total amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$25,612.08

127) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 31/10/2021, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$555.00

128) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 15/09/2021, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$(230.00)

129) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 2/10/2021, the following total amount 
for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$(230.00)



130) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 5/11/2021, the following total amount 
for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$680.00

131) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 28/11/2021, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$630.00

132) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 31/12/2021, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$305.00

133) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 19/01/2022, the following total 
amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$580.00

134) In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 30/01/2022 (period of  full five 
months), the following total amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$580.00

In extract from Income & Expenditure Report for the financial year-to-date 01/09/2021 to 27/02/2022 (period of  full six months), the 
following total amount for legal and debt collection fees were recorded:

$630.00

135) Extract from minutes of committee meeting dated 23 September 2021 show that Solicitor Adrian Mueller was allegedly working 
on costs assessment but did not communicate with Lot 158 whilst earning steady income from owners corporation:

This suggests:

• There were no legal expenses of significant nature for five months in FY 2022 (period from 1 September 2021 to 31 August 
2022), or

• Legal expenses were hidden and undisclosed to owners.



Narrative 5 - Non-compliant committee meetings dated 10 February 2022 and 3 March 2022 – without 
disclosure of alleged legal costs for Solicitor Adrian Mueller in period from July 2021 onward

136) Notice of paper committee meeting, without designated venue was published on notice boards as late as 13:30 hours on 8 
February 2022, and scheduled for 10 February 2022, without venue and time. Photo taken of notice board near letterboxes:

 



137) Lot 158 did not receive notice of this meeting, which, as requested three years ago, must come via post.

138) This notice, as all other notices sent by Waratah Strata Management since 2018 failed to satisfy SSMA 2015, Schedule 2, 
Part 2, 4(1) and Schedule 1.18 of the Justice Legislation Amendment Bill (No 3) 2018 (NSW) that amended section 76 (1) 
(b) of the Interpretation Act 1987 (NSW). 

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-letterbox-area-notice-board-with-committee-meeting-agenda-published-
around-1330-hours-photo-2-8Feb2022.png”.

139) Notice did not contain detailed agenda for any Motions on notice board:

• Minutes of last meeting.

• Financial report.

• Gigacomm proposal (all correspondence missing for owners).

• Core Engineering fire proposal (all correspondence missing).

• Electric vehicle charging station.

• General business (no information of any kind what items were to be voted or discussed).

140) As of 27 February 2022 (Lot 158 have full photo evidence for each day in February 2022), notice boards did not publish 
minutes of meeting dated 10 February 2022, including Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s re-engagement for costs recovery. 

141) Another committee meeting is scheduled for 3 March 2022 and as of 27 February 2022, notice boards have not published 
information about it.

142) Lot 158 did not receive copy of it, which, as requested three years ago, must come via post..

Extract from the notice of the meeting as provided by a concerned owner:

 



143) Waratah Strata Management, on their website, provided the following update in the minutes dated 10 February 2022 (which 
most of owners would not see because they do not log into website). The minutes do not mention Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s 
current updates, or current financial status:



Narrative 6 – Lot 158 updated letters of demand in February 2022

144) In February 2022, Mr. LOT 158 sent polite but firm letters of demand to the following recipients, asking for them to be 
reasonable and avoid legal costs by simply offering evidence or refuting Mr. LOT 158’s claims, and assisting enforcement 
agencies in investigations of Solicitor Adrian Mueller:

• Letter of demand to Pica Group managers (parent company of BCS Strata Management) on 11 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mr. Stan Pogorelsky (ex-EC Chairperson and current EC member, who is alleged to be unfinancial due 
to unpaid full levies since 1999) on 10 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mr. Moses Levitt (current EC member, who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full levies since 
2001) on 10 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mr. Jeffery Wang (current EC member) on 10 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mrs. Maureen McDonald (long-term ex-EC member) on 12 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mr. Robert Crosbie at Waratah Strata Management on 13 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mr. Upali Aranwela (long-term ex-EC Treasurer, who is alleged to be unfinancial due to unpaid full 
levies since 1999) on 10 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mrs. Lorna Zelenzuk (ex-EC Chairperson and EC member, who is alleged to be unfinancial due to 
unpaid full levies since 1999) on 10 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mr. John Gore (current EC member) on 10 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mr. John Ward (ex-EC Treasurer and EC member) on 12 February 2022

• Letter of demand to Mr. Bruce Copland (ex-EC Chairperson) on 10 February 2022

No reply was received from any of them. 



Narrative 7 – Mrs. LOT 158 costs for unsuccessful strata document searches – 2011 to 2020

145) Owners corporation and Solicitor Adrian Mueller were made aware of expenses in amount of $3,564.95 Mrs. LOT 158 paid 
on behalf of her husband for strata document searches, where access to many files was denied:

• 16Nov2011 $154.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 7Nov2012 $132.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 28Feb2012 $72.00 Document search at CTTT.

• 7Mar2013 $33.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 11Mar2013 $172.80 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 11Sep2013 $45.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 15Oct2013 $45.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 18Oct2013 $32.00 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 16Feb2016 $164.80 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 16Feb2016 $3.40 Document search at BCS Strata Management.

• 15Jun2017 $61.05 Document search at Waratah Strata Management.

• 13Jun2019 $212.85 Document search at Waratah Strata Management.
 

• 13Jun2019 $2.75 Document search at Waratah Strata Management.

• 26Sep2019 $234.30 Document search at Waratah Strata Management.
 

• 29Mar2020 $2,200.00 O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitors demand for strata files sent to Waratah Strata Management.



Narrative 8 - Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s premeditated plan how to successfully prevent Lot 158 Motions 
from being considered by 218 owners at general meeting in 2017

146) Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-premeditated-plan-by-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-to-prevent-Applicant-Motions-
and-disallow-owners-to-vote-at-AGM-2017.pdf” contain brief details of secret events orchestrated by Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller:

• Solicitor Adrian Mueller charging SP52948 for alleged full review of Lot 158 folder in NCAT case SC 20/33352, which 
includes his direct involvement in preventing Lot 158 Motions and Police investigations at AGM 2017.

• Advice by Solicitor Adrian Mueller in secret email to Waratah Strata Management on 23 August 2017 how to prevent
Lot 158 Motions for Annual General Meeting in October 2017.

• Template of letter Solicitor Adrian Mueller prepared on 23 August 2017 for Waratah Strata Management with
instructions to send it to Lot 158 as close to Annual General Meeting 2017 so that there would be no time to update agenda 
for the meeting.

• Extract from Waratah Strata Management minutes of committee meeting on 18 September 2017, with false statement to 
owners that Lot 158 Motions were being considered for agenda for Annual General Meeting.

• Letter sent by Waratah Strata Management to Lot 158 on 10 October 2017 (only 16 days before the Annual General 
Meeting), rejecting to put any Motions for owners to consider and vote.

• Some of the Lot 158 Motions excluded from agenda for Annual General Meeting 2017.



Narrative 9 - Solicitor Adrian Mueller involvement in using his Special By-Law Unreasonable 
Communications to prevent Lot 158 from raising concerns and complaints

147) Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-used-Unreasonable-Communications-Special-By-Law-against-Lot-158-six-
times-without-disclosure-to-NCAT-SC-20-33352.pdf” contain brief details of events orchestrated by Solicitor Adrian 
Mueller. Explicit usage of “Unreasonable Communications” Special By-Law:

• Motions 18 and 19 at AGM on 18 October 2018, with unqualified and baseless threats, preventing owners to have access to 
Lot 158 Motions and vote on them.

• Motion 4 at committee meeting on 2 May 2019.

• Waratah Strata Management secret email to Fair Trading NSW on 20 May 2019 (11 days before Lot 158 was scheduled for 
document search in strata manager’s office), confirming that Lot 158 was not allowed to have access to strata files including 
Strata Roll – email was fully supported by all members of the committee.

• Motion 4 at committee meeting on 20 June 2019.

• Motion 3 at committee meeting on 29 April 2021, with further false statements and threats against Lot 158.

• Motion 6 at committee meeting on 10 February 2022 (notice of meeting not sent to all owners and minutes not published on 
notice board).



Narrative 10 - Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s premeditated plan how to successfully prevent Lot 158 
Motions from being considered by 218 owners at general meeting in 2018 

148) Unredacted evidence in document “Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-prevented-Lot-158-Motions-and-disallowed-owners-to-vote-
AGM-2018.pdf” contain brief details of secret events orchestrated by Solicitor Adrian Mueller. 



Narrative 11 - Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s premeditated plan to create legal precedence by not allowing 
Respondent to attend Hearing in CTTT case SCS 12/32675 and NCAT case SC 20/33352 

149) Solicitor Adrian Mueller used the same principle of not allowing Respondent to be present at Hearings in two cases CTTT 
SCS 12/32675 and NCAT SC 20/33352 and influenced the Tribunal to dismiss orders against the Respondent due to their 
"non-attendance" and alleged inability to defend themselves.

• In the first case SCS 12/32675, Solicitor Adrian Mueller lied to CTTT, as per unredacted evidence in document 
"faxcoversheet-SCS-12-32675-False-Statement-for-Order-4-Hearing-19Oct2012.doc":

  



• In the second case SC 20/33352, in appears that Solicitor Adrian Mueller secretly notified NCAT that committee members 
and strata manager would not attend the Hearing, without sharing that information with Lot 158.

In their decision in case SC 20/33352 on  23 April 2021, Tribunal stated, without any evidence being submitted by Solicitor 
Adrian Mueller that was shared with Lot 158, or witnessed by Lot 158 in any form:

 

Unredacted evidence in document “20-33352 Sarginson Reserved.pdf”.



Narrative 12 - Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s premeditated secret plan how to recover legal costs from Lot 
158 in CTTT case SCS 12/32675 on 8 November 2013

150) Solicitor Adrian Mueller, in spite of knowing that his representation in case SCS 12/32675 was based on falsified documents
and statements, secretly submitted the following letter and emails to two BCS Strata Management staff (Mr. Peter Bone and 
Mr. Paul Banoob) on 8 November 2013:

Unredacted evidence in document "SP52948-A-Mueller-notice-about8800-dollars-penalty-8Nov2013-BCS6518374.pdf".

151) In the same letter and email, Solicitor Adrian Mueller gave options for enforcing costs recover, including fast bankruptcy:

 



Narrative 13 – Example of Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s invoice in amount of $6,980.28 (GST inclusive) 
without itemised references or evidence of signed Standard Costs Agreement

152) Here is how Solicitor Adrian Mueller without itemised invoice secretly charged owners corporation SP52948 on 14 
February 2014:

Unredacted evidence in document “BCS7278434-JS-Mueller-invoice-18Feb2014.pdf”. 



Narrative 14 – Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s Standard Costs Agreement in District Court case 2013/360456 
approved costs in amount of $16.500.00 (GST inclusive) whilst Solicitor Adrian Mueller charged 
$20,866.75 (GST inclusive) without owners corporation approval or knowledge (similar problem 
happened in CTTT case SCS 12/32675: alleged Standard Costs Agreement for Solicitor Adrian Mueller 
approved $11,550.00 (GST inclusive) whilst Solicitor charged $28,511.24 (GST inclusive) without 
owners corporation approval or knowledge)

153) Extract from alleged Standard Costs Agreement:

 

 

 

 



Extract from Cash Book Payments by Account Code for period 1 September 2013 to 31 August 2014 (figures are GST 
exclusive):

 

Similar problem happened in CTTT case SCS 12/32675: alleged Standard Costs Agreement for Solicitor Adrian Mueller 
approved $11,550.00 (GST inclusive) whilst Solicitor charged $28,511.24 (GST inclusive) without owners corporation 
approval or knowledge.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Solicitor-AdrIan-Mueller-signed-Standard-Costs-Agreement-for-District-
Court-in-amount-of-16500-dollars-9Jan2014.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “BCS7459729-JS-Mueller-invoice-6Mar2014.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence at https://hub.communitye.com.au/wps/PA_ExtraStrata/invview?docid=7271137



Narrative 15 – Solicitor Adrian Mueller fully aware of Mr. LOT 158 being legal member of committee 
since AGM 2012

154) At Annual General Meeting on 17 October 2012, which failed to comply with strata regulations where strata manager and 
committee members did not allow owners information about it, Mr. LOT 158 had 14  votes for election on the committee, 
whilst out of nine other candidates two were UNFINANCIAL to vote or be elected on the committee due to unpaid levies: 
Mr. Stan Pogorelsky and Mr. Moses Levitt.

Mr. LOT 158 also held three proxy authorisations for period of 12 months, which meant that in period from 17 October 2012 
to next general meeting on 23 October 2013, Mr. LOT 158 was legal representative of owners corporation.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller is fully aware of these irrefutable facts, based on evidence of unfinancial owners who did not pay 
prescribed levies for gas connections (including 10% simple interest in each year) or did not declare having such connection:

• FY 2013, two unfinancial members on the committee: Mr. Moses Levitt, Mr. Stan Pogorelsky (total number of candidates: 
10, selected 9, two not valid, hence Mr. LOT 158 should have been automatically elected on 17 October 2012).

• FY 2015, two unfinancial members on the committee: Mr. Moses Levitt, Mr. Stan Pogorelsky (total number of candidates: 
10, selected 9, two not valid, hence Mr. LOT 158 should have been automatically elected on 26 November 2014).

• FY 2018, three unfinancial members on the committee: Mrs. Marianna Paltikian, Mr. Moses Levitt, Mr. Stan Pogorelsky 
(total number of candidates: 11, selected 9, three not valid, hence Mr. LOT 158 should have been automatically elected on 18
October 2017).

• FY 2019, three unfinancial members on the committee: Mrs. Marianna Paltikian, Mr. Moses Levitt, Mr. Stan Pogorelsky 
(total number of candidates: 10, selected 9, three not valid, hence Mr. LOT 158 should have been automatically elected on 17
October 2018).

• FY 2020, three unfinancial members on the committee: Mrs. Marianna Paltikian, Mr. Moses Levitt, Mr. Stan Pogorelsky 
(total number of candidates: 10, selected 9, three not valid, hence Mr. LOT 158 should have been automatically elected).

• In all other years since 2012, Mr. LOT 158 would have been a member of the committee by default, because there were no 
candidates to oppose it.

• In his secret email dated 23 August 2017, Solicitor Adrian Mueller confirmed the knowledge of allegations against 
committee members who were unfinancial, but proceeded to prevent Lot 158’s Motions from being considered at AGM 
2017:

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-AGM-2012-paperwork.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-letter-23Aug2017.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-premeditated-plan-by-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-to-prevent-Applicant-Motions-
and-disallow-owners-to-vote-at-AGM-2017.pdf”.



Narrative 16 – Solicitor Adrian Mueller prevented this Motion from AGM 2017 in regards to owners 
corporation confirming financial losses to Lot 158 due to Solicitor’s illegal representations in CTTT 
and District Court cases

155) One of numerous Motions prevented by Solicitor Adrian Mueller through premeditated plan how to ignore Lot 158:

 

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-premeditated-plan-by-Solicitor-Adrian-Mueller-to-prevent-Applicant-
Motions-and-disallow-owners-to-vote-at-AGM-2017.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Motions-by-Lot-158-prevented-from-voting-by-Waratah-Strata-
Managament-without-legal-grounds-AGM-2017.pdf”.



Narrative 17 – Secret conduct by Solicitor Adrian Mueller in NCAT case SC 20/33352 

156) Owners corporation SP52958 engaged Solicitor Adrian Mueller (without providing owners or NCAT with evidence of 
Solicitor’s signed Standard Costs Agreement and evidence of legally convened and compliant general meeting which made 
decision to engage him), who reviewed Lot 158’s partial documents on 9 and 10 December 2020 and as a consequence failed 
to comply with Tribunal’s Directions Hearing to submit files by post and email by 20 November 2020.

Extract from Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s invoice 101676 dated 11 December 2020:

 

During November and December 2020, Solicitor Adrian Mueller continued to incur costs, without executing Tribunal orders.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller was fully aware of Directions Hearing dated 25 September 2020, which in order 6 requested that the 
Respondent provides to Lot 158 and the Tribunal, either in person or by post, and by email, a copy of all documents on which the 
Respondent wanted to rely, by 20 November 2020.

157) Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s invoice 102134 dated 3 February 2020 contains details of secret communications between owners 
corporation SP542948 and NCAT, which included the Respondent email filing their Outline of Submissions on 14 December 
2020 which the Applicant received as late as 25 January 2021 (after the Directions Hearing deadline imposed on the Respondent),
and NCAT confirmation of acceptance of electronically filed submissions, which was strictly denied to Lot 158:

 



158) The document that Solicitor Adrian Mueller emailed to Mr. LOT 158 on 25 January 2021 has the following hidden metadata, 
showing with reasonable level of confidence, that Solicitor Adrian Mueller deliberately kept the document undisclosed to Lot 158 
(last modified on 24 December 2020) until the deadline to submit it expired (25 January 2021):

Schedule 4, Clause 10(2) of the NSW Civil & Administrative Tribunal Act 2013 provides the following:

(a) If the party is causing the disadvantage is the applicant – order that the proceedings (or part of the proceedings) be dismissed or 
struck out, or

(b) If the party causing the disadvantage is not the applicant:
(i) determine the proceedings (or part of the proceedings) in favour of the applicant and make any appropriate orders, or
(ii) order that the party causing the disadvantage be struck out of the proceedings (or part of the proceedings).

159) Mr. LOT 158’s unredacted evidence in email to NCAT and committee members with Subject “Applicant’s belated response 
due to lack of actions  by Respondent – 1 February 2021”, said:

Dear NCAT,

As predicted by us in advance, the Respondent failed to comply with multiple Tribunal orders. Please refer to attachment 
"NCAT-20-33352-Applicant-letter-1Feb2021.pdf". This made the Applicant's actions very difficult and unnecessarily 
complex.

Completely unrelated to us, another owner, Lot 160 sent an urgent plea to all letterboxes two weeks ago, complaining about 
misconduct of strata manager and the management of the complex (attachment "SP52948-Lot-162-letterbox-notice-call-for-
EGM-and-better-management-18Jan2021.jpg").

The Applicant requests that Solicitor Adrian Mueller be struck out from the proceedings due to lack of evidence of his 
retainer, conflict of interest, repeated failures to comply with Tribunal directions and orders (five times since 2012), being 
listed as person-of-interest in a Police Event for fraud and Office of Legal Services Commissioner case for professional 
misconduct.

Instead of dealing with the CTTT/NCAT cases, Solicitor Adrian Mueller secretly attempted to initiate four alleged 
“defamation cases”, last time on 21 October 2020. His persistence to obstruct legal processes disqualify him from acting on 
behalf of few owners.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller, even in the short outline of his response sent in email on 25 January 2021, failed to comply with 
Section 71 of the Civil and Administrative Tribunal Act 2013 which states that a person must not in any proceedings or 
application provide any information, or make any statement, to NCAT knowing that the information or statement is false or 
misleading.

Document “NCAT-20-33352-Applicant-letter-1Feb2021.pdf”.



Narrative 18 – Solicitor Adrian Mueller co-operated with strata manager to hide his costs in accounting
figures during CTTT case SCS 12/32675 and SCS 12/50460 in 2013

160) This was status of financial documents on 4 March 2013, as listed at BCS Strata Community website for owners corporation
SP52948. Six-monthly financial statement Document ID 5200006, written by Strata Manager Mr. Peter Bone (he was removed from 
managing SP52948 for unsatisfactory performance later). It hid secret legal expenses, which were paid to Solicitor Mr. Adrian 
Mueller without owners corporation knowledge or approval.

Unredacted evidence in “SP52948-FONTENOY_FIN REPORT_1Sep2012_28Feb2013-balance-sheet.pdf”.

Unredacted evidence in document “SP52948-Accounting-balance-sheet-1Sep2012-to-28Feb2013-CORRECTION-on-23Mar2013-
img-423171440-0001.pdf”.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller had this information available to him but he withheld it from CTTT and his own costs were kept secret from 
owners in the complex in all committee meetings throughout the CTTT cases.

161) Upon complaints from two owners (Mr. LOT 158 included) who had more knowledge of the issue, strata manager Peter 
Bone issued an amended version of the document on 23 March 2013 but did not share it with CTTT and owners directly: 



Another staff member at BCS Strata Management tried to offer weak explanation and even used fraudulent insurance claims 
for non-existent legal case:

From: Steven.Zouroudis
Sent: Tuesday, 23 April 2013 2:35 PM
To: Michael BM (retired university professor)
Cc: Paul Banoob; Peter Bone; Krisna Sopia
Subject: SP 52948 - six monthly accounts
The income received from the insurance company in regards to legals is now showing in the accounts. The previous six 
monthly accounts you received had the insurance claim for legal fees taken up as a asset and offset once the money was 
received.
I have attached the paperwork from the insurance company of the claims received. The amounts are:-
$948.55 for burst pipe U190
$12714.65 for CTTT Defence for Lot 3
$367.64 for CTTT Defence for Lot 3
There may be more claims that are pending from the insurance company, you will need to discuss this with your strata 
manager.
Please advise if you need any more clarification of the six monthly accounts provided.
Steven Zouroudis
Assistant Accountant
Level 27, 66-68 Goulburn Street, Sydney NSW 2000
Locked Bag 22, Haymarket NSW 1238
F: (02) 9212 6269

Amended accounting figures were temporarily available (but not sent to any owners or CTTT), and then again removed 
permanently before the general meeting and CTTT’s decisions in cases SCS 12/32675 and SCS 12/50460 (removed the 
amended financials to ensure success of the meeting in their favour - Document ID 5304628 disappeared forever):

 



Narrative 19 – Solicitor Adrian Mueller kept secret from NCAT in case SC 12/33352 that he was paid for 
services (without evidence of signed Standard Costs Agreement or decision at any legally convened 
meeting) four months after the invoice to move the costs into different financial year

162) Mr. LOT 158 warned Waratah Strata Management in email  on 23 June 2019:

Invoice sent by Solicitor Adrian Mueller on 23 August 2017.
Invoice paid on 11 December 2017, so that it does not fall in FY 2017 accounting and was well hidden in unspecified "legal 
fees" provided to owners in agenda for AGM 2018.
Invoice paid almost four months after the Solicitor's request.

On 
11 

December 2017, Solicitor Adrian Mueller was paid for three invoices, in total amount of $5,200.00 (GST exclusive). 



No reply was received from strata manager or committee members.

Strata manager and committee members never provided this information to owners.



Narrative 20 – Solicitor Adrian Mueller’s actions increase fire safety and OH&S risks (long-overdue 
safety report professional report prepared for committee meeting on 3 March 2022)

 

 









Lot 158 offers for costs in NCAT case SC 20/33352

Offer Option 1

163) Based on evidence that satisfies “on balance of probabilities” and “beyond reasonable doubt”, Solicitor Adrian Mueller engaged 
in premeditated, repetitive, and highly illegal actions which include falsifying documents, falsifying statements in Statutory 
Declaration to CTTT and District Court on behalf of strata manager Peter Bone, silently supported false statements of strata manager 
in his Affidavit to District Court, orchestrated falsification of his signed Standard Costs Agreement in CTTT case SCS 12/32675, 
continued to prevent all owners and Lot 158 to view any of his allegedly signed Standard Costs Agreements since 2012, contempt of 
courts, and much more, Lot 158 declare:

I. None of the claims for legal costs in NCAT case 20/33352 shall be repaid under current circumstances, as there is no evidence 
Solicitor’s costs were legally approved or ratified by owners corporation. Solicitor Adrian Mueller continued to waste 
owners corporation funds and court time by not providing evidence of his retainer and other activities related to it.

Lot 158 cannot be coerced to be involved in fraud unless evidence is provided to the contrary. 

  Solicitor Adrian Mueller failed to provide response with unredacted files to O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitor’s   
  letter dated 24 April 2020, failed to provide response with unredacted evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email on 19   
  July 2021 (Subject line “FIRST RESPONSE FOR COSTS TO SOLICITOR ADRIAN MUELLER NCAT File No.   
  SC 20/33352 (JSM 37289)”, failed to provide response with unredacted evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email to OLSC 
  and Solicitor on 8 February 2022 (Subject line “OLSC case CAS005901 - Request for Solicitor Adrian Mueller to  
  respond with evidence on 8Feb2022”), and failed to provide unredacted details of COMPLETE BANK   
  STATEMENTS (they are the only reliable evidence of payments from common funds) for owners corporation  
  SP52948 and Trust account for Solicitor Adrian Mueller for period 1 February 2017 to now.

II. Owners corporation, at own cost, shall organise Extraordinary General Meeting within two months and resubmit Lot 158 
Motions (with appropriate changes to reflect new information) as presented at general meetings 2017, 2018, 2019, and 
2020, which Solicitor Adrian Mueller influenced to not allow owners to receive or consider. Owners corporation  shall 
commit to provide all owners will full evidence of NCAT case SC 20/33352.

As an example, Solicitor Adrian Mueller charged owners corporation $2,700.00 for preventing Lot 158 at general meeting in 
2020 on 28 September 2020:

    
III. Owners corporation shall, at own costs, request NCAT to provide certified copies of audio recordings of Directions Hearing 

and Hearing in case SC 20/33352 and provide copies to Lot 158.

Lot 158, at own costs, have obtained all certified audio recordings for three Hearings in case CTTT SCS 12/32675.

IV. Solicitor Adrian Mueller shall, at own expense, provide full response with unredacted files to O’Brien Criminal & Civil 
Solicitor’s letter dated 24 April 2020, full response with unredacted evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email on 19 July 2021 
(Subject line “FIRST RESPONSE FOR COSTS TO SOLICITOR ADRIAN MUELLER NCAT File No. SC 20/33352 (JSM
37289)”, and full response with evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email to OLSC and Solicitor on 8 February 2022 (Subject line 
“OLSC case CAS005901 - Request for Solicitor Adrian Mueller to respond with evidence on 8Feb2022”).

V. Owners corporation shall, at own cost, provide to all owners detailed response to each item in Mr. LOT 158’s Statutory 
Declaration dated 18 August 2020.

VI. If the case goes to court, Lot 158 shall request that proceeding be struck out due to Solicitor Adrian Mueller repetitive abuse 
of court time and resources (petition the court and make a strong argument that the alleged offender's actions are in fact 
illegal).

VII. If the case goes to court, Lot 158 shall request that proceedings be stayed until Office of Legal Services Commissioner case
CAS005901 and pending submission in person for Crime Stoppers Event 648467 be finalised.
 

VIII. If the case goes to court, Lot 158 shall request that subpoenas be issued for Solicitor Adrian Mueller, selective committee 
members, and strata manager at BCS Strata Management and Waratah Strata Management to produce unredacted evidence 
to court, Police, OLSC, and provide copies to Lot 158.

At common law, no privilege arises in respect of a communication made for a purpose that is contrary to the public interest; 
that is, where the communication is made in furtherance of an illegal or improper purpose, whether or not the legal adviser 
knows of that purpose.



For the purposes of the illegal or improper purpose principle, the relevant distinction is between a communication made for 
the purpose of being guided or helped in achieving an illegal or improper purpose, which is a non-privileged communication,
as compared with a communication made for the purpose of seeking advice in relation to past conduct, which may be 
privileged.

However, a communication in relation to past conduct will not be privileged if the communication is for the purpose of 
covering up a crime or fraud, or for the purpose of defeating or delaying recovery by the victims of a crime or fraud.

The illegal or improper purpose principle covers all forms of fraud and dishonesty, including fraudulent breach of trust, 
fraudulent conspiracy, trickery and ‘sham’ contrivances, as well as cases of fraud by third parties.

IX. Due to four overdue repairs and safety checks of common property in Lot 158 (of which two are related to OH&S and fire 
safety), Lot 158 shall initiate NCAT case to enforce compliance with strata laws unless owners corporation takes immediate
remediation steps:

• Fire safety checks for external door and two smoke alarms for 2022.

• Water leak damages near lighting on ceiling in sun-room (unresolved since September 2020),

• All intercom access points were scheduled to be tested in Block A on 10 February 2022. Lot 158 complained about their 
device not working occasionally several times and no repair or checks were done. On 10 February 2022, Lot 158 property 
was not visited by H&T Security.

• Third event with horrific window frame being blown on sun-room happened in complex on 29 November 2020 (this time it 
was Lot 190 on level 7 in Block A):

  

 



There is an outstanding task to check all sun-rooms in Block A since 1 December 2020 and this task has not been completed, 
at least not in Lot 158 property:

 

 

X. To prevent further legal costs, owners corporation shall promptly reimburse recovery of lost funds for Mrs. LOT 158, who, 
on behalf of Mr. LOT 158, paid:

• Penalty in amount of $26,500.00 based solely on Mr. Peter Bone's Statutory declaration which was fully prepared and 
organised by Solicitor Adrian Mueller.

• $2,737.90 to Chambers Russell Lawyers for unnecessary case in District Court case 13/360456 where, the Solicitor's 
defence was based on false Statutory Declaration by Mr. Peter Bone and false statements by Mr. Peter Bone in his Affidavit.

• $700.00 for Mr. LOT 158 being forced to deliver extra folders to Solicitor Adrian Mueller on 18 April 2013 (due to fact that
strata manager lost first folder, which was not Mr. LOT 158’s responsibility or problem).

• Document searches where strata managers and committee members failed to provide paid services in amount $3,564.95.



Offer Option 2

164) If Solicitor Adrian Mueller provides full response with unredacted files to O’Brien Criminal & Civil Solicitor’s letter dated 24 
April 2020, provide full response with unredacted evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email on 19 July 2021 (Subject line “FIRST 
RESPONSE FOR COSTS TO SOLICITOR ADRIAN MUELLER NCAT File No. SC 20/33352 (JSM 37289)”, provide full response 
with unredacted evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email to OLSC and Solicitor on 8 February 2022 (Subject line “OLSC case CAS005901 -
Request for Solicitor Adrian Mueller to respond with evidence on 8Feb2022”), and provide unredacted details of COMPLETE BANK
STATEMENTS (they are the only reliable evidence of payments from common funds) for owners corporation SP52948 and Trust 
account for Solicitor Adrian Mueller for period 1 February 2017 to now:

I. Lot 158 commit to take serious consideration for reviewing the legal costs and address them accordingly.
  

             There are number of dubious items on Solicitor’s invoices, and they will be carefully checked and response provided    
             if Solicitor Adrian Mueller provides unredacted evidence of their existence.

             Waratah Strata Management provided these figures in agenda for general meeting in October 2021, which cannot be            
             verified due to lack of banking statements:

             02/11/2020 Refund SP97451 Lot 1158 courier to Mueller $14.46
             28/09/2020 Advice on Motions requested by owner Lot 158 $2,700.00
             26/10/2020 Defamation by Lot 158 $413.50
             23/11/2020 Defamation by Lot 158 (Hussein Elachkar) $1,218.75
             14/12/2020 NCAT application Lot 158 $8,030.00
             8/02/2021  NCAT application Lot 158 $2,213.55 
             19/04/2021 NCAT application Lot 158 $4,921.40
             10/05/2021 NCAT application Lot 158 $3,198.75
             11/06/2021 NCAT application Lot 158 $1,899.45

Total expenses (GST exclusive) for Solicitor Adrian Mueller, without costs for barrister Hussein Elachkar, in FY 2021: 
$26,076.55.

II. Owners corporation shall, at own cost, organise Extraordinary General Meeting within two months and resubmit Lot
158 Motions (with appropriate changes to reflect new information) as presented at general meetings 2017, 2018, 2019, and 
2020, which Solicitor Adrian Mueller influenced to not allow owners to vote. Owners corporation shall commit to provide 
all owners will full evidence of NCAT case SC 20/33352.

Solicitor Adrian Mueller charged owners corporation $2,700.00 for preventing Lot 158 at general meeting in 2020 on 28 
September 2020:

    
III. Owners corporation shall, at own costs, request NCAT to provide certified copies of audio recordings of Directions Hearing 

and Hearing in case SC 20/33352 and provide copies to Lot 158.

Lot 158, at own costs, have obtained all certified audio recordings for three Hearings in case CTTT SCS 12/32675.

IV. Solicitor Adrian Mueller charged owners corporation $2,700.00 for preventing Lot 158 at general meeting in 2020 on 28 
September 2020:

    
V. Solicitor Adrian Mueller shall, at own expense, provide full response with unredacted files to O’Brien Criminal & Civil 

Solicitor’s letter dated 24 April 2020, full response with unredacted evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email on 19 July 2021 
(Subject line “FIRST RESPONSE FOR COSTS TO SOLICITOR ADRIAN MUELLER NCAT File No. SC 20/33352 (JSM
37289)”, and full response with evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email to OLSC and Solicitor on 8 February 2022 (Subject line 
“OLSC case CAS005901 - Request for Solicitor Adrian Mueller to respond with evidence on 8Feb2022”).

VI. Owners corporation shall, at own cost, provide to all owners detailed response to each item in Mr. LOT 158’s Statutory 
Declaration dated 18 August 2020.

VII. If the case goes to court, Lot 158 shall request that proceeding be struck out due to Solicitor Adrian Mueller repetitive abuse
of court time and resources (petition the court and make a strong argument that the alleged offender's actions are in fact 
illegal).

VIII. If the case goes to court, Lot 158 shall request that proceedings be stayed until Office of Legal Services Commissioner 
case CAS005901 and pending submission in person for Crime Stoppers Event 648467 be finalised. 



IX. If the case goes to court, Lot 158 shall request that subpoenas be issued for Solicitor Adrian Mueller, selective committee 
members, and strata manager at BCS Strata Management and Waratah Strata Management to produce unredacted evidence 
to court court, Police, OLSC, and provide copies to Lot 158.

At common law, no privilege arises in respect of a communication made for a purpose that is contrary to the public interest; 
that is, where the communication is made in furtherance of an illegal or improper purpose, whether or not the legal adviser 
knows of that purpose.

For the purposes of the illegal or improper purpose principle, the relevant distinction is between a communication made for 
the purpose of being guided or helped in achieving an illegal or improper purpose, which is a non-privileged communication,
as compared with a communication made for the purpose of seeking advice in relation to past conduct, which may be 
privileged.

However, a communication in relation to past conduct will not be privileged if the communication is for the purpose of 
covering up a crime or fraud, or for the purpose of defeating or delaying recovery by the victims of a crime or fraud.

The illegal or improper purpose principle covers all forms of fraud and dishonesty, including fraudulent breach of trust, 
fraudulent conspiracy, trickery and ‘sham’ contrivances, as well as cases of fraud by third parties.

X. Due to four overdue repairs and safety checks of common property in Lot 158 (of which two are related to OH&S and fire 
safety), Lot 158 shall initiate NCAT case to enforce compliance with strata laws:

• Fire safety checks for external door and two smoke alarms for 2022.

• Water leak damages near lighting on ceiling in sun-room (unresolved since September 2020),



• All intercom access points were scheduled to be tested in Block A on 10 February 2022. Lot 158 complained about their 
device not working occasionally several times and no repair or checks were done. On 10 February 2022, Lot 158 property 
was not visited by H&T Security.

• Third event with horrific window frame being blown on sun-room happened in complex on 29 November 2020 (this time it 
was Lot 190 on level 7 in Block A):

  

 



There is an outstanding task to check all sun-rooms in Block A since 1 December 2020 and this task has not been completed, 
at least not in Lot 158 property:

 

XI. To save legal costs, owners corporation shall promptly reimburse lost funds for Mrs. LOT 158, who, on behalf of Mr. LOT 
158, paid:

• Penalty in amount of $26,500.00 based solely on Mr. Peter Bone's Statutory declaration which was fully prepared and 
organised by Solicitor Adrian Mueller.

• $2,737.90 to Chambers Russell Lawyers for unnecessary case in District Court case 13/360456 where, the Solicitor's 
defence was based on false Statutory Declaration by Mr. Peter Bone and false statements by Mr. Peter Bone in his Affidavit.

• $700.00 for Mr. LOT 158 being forced to deliver extra folders to Solicitor Adrian Mueller on 18 April 2013 (due to fact that
strata manager lost first folder, which was not Mr. LOT 158’s responsibility or problem).

• Document searches where strata managers and committee members failed to provide paid services in amount $3,564.95.



Offer Option 3

165) The following is offered:

I. Solicitor Adrian Mueller and owners corporation shall unconditionally withdraw the claim for legal costs (avoid Lot 158 
petition the court to make a strong argument that the alleged offender's actions are in fact illegal) and privately settle with 
Lot 158 for the following events.

II. Owners corporation shall promptly attend to four overdue repairs and safety checks of common property in Lot 158’s 
property:

• Fire safety checks for external door and two smoke alarms for 2022.

• Water leak damages near lighting on ceiling in sun-room (unresolved since September 2020),

• All intercom access points were scheduled to be tested in Block A on 10 February 2022. Lot 158 complained about their 
device not working occasionally several times and no repair or checks were done. On 10 February 2022, Lot 158 was not 
visited by H&T Security.

• Third event with horrific window frame being blown on sun-room happened in complex on 29 November 2020 (this time it 
was Lot 190 on level 7 in Block A):

  

 



There is an outstanding task to check all sun-rooms in Block A since 1 December 2020 and this task has not been completed, 
at least not in Lot 158 property:

 

 

III. Owners corporation shall, at own cost, organise Extraordinary General Meeting within two months and resubmit Lot 158 
Motions (with appropriate changes to reflect new information) as presented at general meetings 2017, 2018, 2019, and 
2020, which Solicitor Adrian Mueller influenced to not allow owners to vote. Owners corporation shall commit to provide 
all owners will full evidence of NCAT case SC 20/33352.

   Solicitor Adrian Mueller charged owners corporation $2,700.00 for preventing Lot 158 at general meeting in 2020 on 28 
  September 2020:

    
IV. Owners corporation shall, at own costs, request NCAT to provide certified copies of audio recordings for Directions Hearing 

and Hearing in case SC 20/33352 and provide copies to Lot 158.

Lot 158, at own costs, has obtained all certified audio recordings for three Hearings in case CTTT SCS 12/32675.

V. Solicitor Adrian Mueller shall, at own expense, provide full response with unredacted files to O’Brien Criminal & Civil 
Solicitor’s letter dated 24 April 2020, full response with unredacted evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email on 19 July 2021 
(Subject line “FIRST RESPONSE FOR COSTS TO SOLICITOR ADRIAN MUELLER NCAT File No. SC 20/33352 (JSM
37289)”, and full response with evidence to Mr. LOT 158’s email to OLSC and Solicitor on 8 February 2022 (Subject line 
“OLSC case CAS005901 - Request for Solicitor Adrian Mueller to respond with evidence on 8Feb2022”), and unredacted 
details of COMPLETE BANK STATEMENTS (they are the only reliable evidence of payments from common funds) for 
owners corporation SP52948 and Trust account for Solicitor Adrian Mueller for period 1 February 2017 to now.

VI. Owners corporation shall, at own cost, provide to all owners detailed response to each item in Mr. LOT 158’s Statutory 
Declaration dated 18 August 2020.

VII. To save legal costs, owners corporation shall promptly reimburse lost funds for Mrs. LOT 158, who, on behalf of Mr. LOT 
158, paid:

• Penalty in amount of $26,500.00 based solely on Mr. Peter Bone's Statutory declaration which was fully prepared and 
organised by Solicitor Adrian Mueller.

• $2,737.90 to Chambers Russell Lawyers for unnecessary case in District Court case 13/360456 where, the Solicitor's 
defence was based on false Statutory Declaration by Mr. Peter Bone and false statements by Mr. Peter Bone in his Affidavit.

• $700.00 for Mr. LOT 158 being forced to deliver extra folders to Solicitor Adrian Mueller on 18 April 2013 (due to fact that
strata manager lost first folder, which was not Mr. LOT 158’s responsibility or problem).



• Document searches where strata managers and committee members failed to provide paid services in amount $3,564.95.
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